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INTRODUCTION

By FrREDERICK L. ScHUMAN

EORGE WASHINGTON, according to a favorite bit of American folklore,

was unable to tell a lie. Those who now administer American foreign
policy in the city bearing his name do not suffer from this disability. Any
resemblance between their official rationalizations and objective reality—
or, often enough, between their words and their deeds—is purely coinci-
dental. The quality and purpose of their efforts to excel Ananias are well
exemplified in the State Department publication released on January 21,
1948: Nazi-Soviet Relations, 1939-1941 (U.S. Government Printing Office,
Washington, D.C., 260 documents in 357 pages, $1.00).

The New York Times headlined this story: SEIZED NAZI PAPERS
SHOW SOVIET AIMS IN 1939 TO GRAB LAND AND DIVIDE
EUROPE: Duplicity Traced. Secret Pact Clauses Set Control Spheres
Which Soviet Overstepped. Moscow Preferred Berlin to West . . . US.
Broadcasts 1939 Expose. The New York Herald Tribune: U.S. REVEALS
DOCUMENTS OF A STALIN-HITLER PACT TO DIVIDE UP THE
WORLD. Most other American newspapers, as the State Department
intended, carried similar headlines.

The tellmg of lies, while usually unethical by the standard of private
morality, is not necessarily reprehensible by the standards of power poli-
tics and political propaganda. The only moral to be derived from the study
of power politics is that there is no morality in power politics—nor can
there be, in the nature of the case, so long as sovereign States pursue self-
interest within a context of global anarchy. To pass judgment on diplo-
macy in terms of personal ethics is absurd. The only possible criterion for
evaluating foreign policy is purely pragmatic. Does the purpose in view
serve national interests, reasonably defined? Are the means adopted likely
to attain the ends proposed?

Since the death of Franklin D. Roosevelt, U.S. foreign policy has been
directed toward objectives which are alien to the national interest and can
never be achieved by the means employed. The Truman-Byrnes-Marshall
program would be repudiated by the American people if its actual purposes
were understood. It must therefore be depicted as a manifestation of char-
ity, nobility, truth, beauty, goodness, and firm devotion to democracy and
peace. Most of the mendacities required for this enterprise are self-
defeating, Lies are sometimes useful in politics when they are plausible.
They are folly incarnate when abundant evidence is at hand to demonstrate
their falsity.

The “story” told in the State Department’s publication of January 21
is a lie, even though it may involve (who can be sure?) no forgeries or
falsifications of actual documents published. In terms of respect for Amer-
ica throughout the world, the consequences of this shabby maneuver are
not a crime, but a blunder of ‘the first magnitude. Writes conservative
columnist Ray Tucker (February 18): “History still to be written (actu-
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ally long since written—F.L.S.) may decide that the State Department
showed incredible ignorance of pre-war diplomatic intrigue when it pub-
lished the documents, . . . For the historical fact is that London and Paris
and Washington did ‘appease’ Hitler in the firm hope and belief that he was
rearming Germany for a war in the East against Russia.” Writes Vera M.
Dean (Foreign Policy Bulletin, January 30): “Publication of the Nazi-
Soviet documents without any attempt to give the context of other events
of the interwar years gives a distorted picture. . . .In presenting to the
world its case against Russia, the U.S. will be in a much stronger position
when it has published the whole story of 1918-1945, and not only the part
regarded as unfavorable to the Soviet Government.” Writes Walter
Lippman (“Propaganda That Backfired,” February 12):

This publication is a classic example of bad propaganda . . . bound
to backfire, doing more injury to ourselves and to our friends than to
the Russians against whom it was aimed . . . That the State Department
book was the work of propagandists and not of scholars is self-evident
on the face of it. It contained only Nazi documents, and no self-
respecting historian would dream of basing his judgment on the docu-
ments of only one side of a grave historical event. Moreover, only
those Nazi documents were selected for publication which bore on
Nazi-Soviet relations after April, 1939. . . . To embarrass our Western
allies and ourselves by inviting the publication of documents for the
period up to the Munich appeasement is not astute—indeed, it is alto-
gether indompetent—propaganda.

“Falsifiers of History™ is an extended and documented statement. Moscow
has promised early publication of other German documents. In fact, new
archive material, albeit always welcome to scholars, is quite unnecessary
to demonstrate the mendacity of the State Department fairy-story. All
that is needed is a re-reading of various publications of 1939: The French
Yellow Book (referred to below as “F”), The Polish White Book, The
British War Blue Book, The German White Book No. 2 (cited below as
“G”), Failure of a Mission, by Neville Henderson (cited as “H”), and the
Nuremberg documents of 1946. The actual pattern of world politics dur-
ing the fateful years preceding World War II was discernible even before
these earlier documents appeared.!

The complex questions here raised cannot be answered adequately in a
brief article. To some a re-examination of these issues may seem to be
threshing old straw. Yet it is a current fact that the Truman Admin-
istration is trying to absolve itself from blame for World War III by the
shameless fake of attributing to the Soviet Union responsibility for World
War II. It is therefore useful to review the major issues involved in order
that the record may be kept straight.

At the outbreak of recent World Wars most of the belligerent govern-
ments have published carefully selected (and sometimes falsified) excerpts

1 See the present writer’s articles, “The Perfidy of Albion,” *“The Great Conspiracy,”
and “Toward the New Munich,” The New Republic, April 20, 1938, October 26, 1938,
and May 31, 1939. For a detailed analysis of the diplomacy of 1933-41, based on the
documentation then available, scee EUROPE ON THE EVE and NIGHT OVER EUROPE
(Knopf, 1939 and 1941).



from their own diplomatic archives to demonstrate their own rectitude
and the wickedness of the foe. In 1917 the Commissariat of Foreign Affairs
of the new Soviet regime published documents from the Tsarist archives
for the purpose of demonstrating the imperialist ambitions of the Govern-
ments of St. Petersburg, Paris, and London, and thereby.encouraging popu-
lar demands for a general peace “without annexations or indemnities.”
During the years of Nazi triumph, the German Foreign Office published
sundry collections of documents picked out of the archives of conquered
States—most notably, France, The purpose was to discredit the vanquished
and demonstrate German reasonableness and righteousness.

All of this is “normal.” What is entirely without precedent, so far as
I can discover, is the publication of documents from the archives of a van-
quished enemy for the purpose of defaming a recent ally whose soldiers
and civilians paid by far the heaviest and most ghastly share of the cost of
winning the common victory. This unique achievement is the work of the
State Department directed by Harry S. Truman, George C. Marshall, Robert
Abercrombie Lovett, George Kennan, John Foster Dulles, et al. Precisely
who among the lesser fry was responsible for this singular feat is unclear.
The documents issued on January 21 were “edited” (says the Preface) by
Raymond James Sontag and James Stuart Beddie, assisted by Jean B.
Dulaney. The latter two editors are quite unknown among scholars and
writers in this field. Professor Sontag, of Princeton and California, is a
diplomatic historian whose initial judgments of Hitler’s Reich were not
entirely unsympathetic. . . .

All publications of diplomatic documents represent a microscopic selec-
tion from an enormous mass of material. The relevancy and probity of
the choice always depend upon who does the selecting and with what pur-
pose in view. Sontag and Beddie, in their “Editor’s Foreword,” assert that
they “have had complete independence in their work and final responsi-
bility for the selection of relevant documents;” that each document “has
been printed in full, without omissions or alterations;” and that they have
selected for publication “all documents essential to an understanding of the
political relations between Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union from the
first effort to reach an agreement to the outbreak of war in June, 1941.”

If the first statement is true, the editors are incompetent; if it is false,
they are dishonest. The third statement is obviously fraudulent. “All
documents essential to an understanding” of German-Soviet relations in
1939-1941 would, of necessity, include papers on Anglo-German and French-
German relations during the same period and earlier. Virtually all such
material has here been suppressed in order to present a wholly misleading
account, not only derived exclusively from Nazi sources but from those
particular Nazi sources best calculated to promote fear and hatred of the
USSR. This volume is full of references to other pertinent documents,
with footnotes reading, “Not Printed”—sometimes as many as three to a
page. The net result is the most astounding travesty on truth that has
ever been perpetrated in this field since the falsifications of the French Yel-
low Book and the Russian Orange Book of 1914.

Ultimate public responsibility for the fraud rests not with the editors,
dishonorable as their role has been, but with the top officials of President
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Truman’s State Department. The Department and Downing Street (says
the Preface) agreed in June, 1946, to sponsor jointly the publication of
some 20 volumes of German Foreign Office documents, 1918-1945, with
the Quai d’Orsay later becoming a party to the agreement and with selec-
tion and editing “to be performed on the basis of the highest scholarly
objectivity” and with each Government reserving “the right to publish
separately any portion of the documents.” In the summer of 1945 Moscow
proposed joint study of captured documents. This suggestion was evaded.
In February, 1948, the British Foreign Office first vaguely denied and then
sheepishly acknowledged that the USSR had made such a request. But the
decision to publish these deceptive papers was Washington’s, not London’s.
The motive was slander. The method was not only dishonest, but stupid.

‘What has happened here is this: the Secretary of State of the U.S.A.—
who, as Chief of Staff, helped mightily to win the war against Hitler’s
Reich—has called up out of the archives the ghost of the late war criminal,
Joachim von Ribbentrop, to testify against the USSR. General Marshall
(or his subordinates) has suppressed all of Ribbentrop’s abundant testimony
against the Western Powers and has grossly distorted the actual course of
relations between Berlin and Moscow. Apparently no misrepresentation
or prevarication is deemed inadmissible if it serves the grand design of
libeling the Kremlin and persuading Americans (and Britishers and French-
men) that a holy war against Soviet sin is impérative.

Happily, this game is lost before it is begun. The citizens of France and
Britain (and of Czechoslovakia, Poland, Austria, Hungary, Yugoslavia,
Albania, Spain, Ethiopia, etc.) know how, why, and by whom they were
led to disaster in the 1930’s. Moscow, with no desire to rake up the pre-
war follies of its allies, has now been compelled to recall the facts to every-
one’s attention. Americans may neither know, nor wish to know, about
the diplomacy of the 1930%. But they must know soon, if they would
save their lives and their children’s lives, that they have little reason to
look with hope toward the State Department of Truman, Byrnes, and Mar-
shall. In summoning the dead diplomats of Wilhelmstrasse to testify to
the rectitude of the living apostles of the new anti-Soviet crusade, this
Department has here performed its perfect obeisance to the gods of ignor-
ance, fear and hate at whose altars it worships.

A major purpose of the State Department in publishing these Nazi docu-
ments was to create the impression (since stated explicitly in thousands
of American editorials and broadcasts) that Word War II was the result
of the Nazi-Soviet pact of August 23, 1939. It would be difficult to
imagine anything farther from the truth.

-~ The diplomacy of 1933-1938 is all of a piece. With the Nazi revolu-
tion, Moscow perceived at once that the safety and the very survival of the
USSR, the Little Entente, France, Britain, and America depended upon
joint action against Fascist aggression through an effective system of col-
lective security. Moscow accordingly joined the League in September,
1934; concluded mutual aid pacts with France and Czechoslovakia in May,
1935; supported the policy of “Popular Fronts” against Fascism; urged
genuine sanctions against Mussolini during the Ethiopian War; alone among
the Powers, gave aid to the Spanish Republic in its heroic defense against
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Axis aggression; extended help to China against the Japanese assault in 1937-
1938; pleaded for a conference against Hitlerite aggression after Anschluss;
proposed to defend Czechoslovakia; and, with a persistence and consistency
rare in the annals of diplomacy, did all in its power to foster joint measures
against a menace threatening all non-Fascist States alike. This policy was
not a policy of altruism, which is unknown in foreign policy. It was a
reflection of enlightened self-interest, based on a correct estimate of the
new forces of barbarism loose in the world. Had Litvinov’s advice been
followed in the 1930’s, the tragedy of World War II need never have
occurred.

Soviet proposals were consistently rejected (at least after the murder of
Louis Barthou) by Paris, London—and Washington. In the US.A. a
President who saw realities clearly (e.g., his Chicago “quarantine” speech
of October, 1937) was reduced to inaction by the pressures of an isola-
tionist Congress, an indifferent public opinion, an unreliable State Depart-
ment, a pro-Fascist Vatican, and pro-Axis Cabinets in London and Paris.
Downing Street and the Quai d’Orsay acted on the basis of a simple cal-
culus which proved to be hideously mistaken. To condemn this calcula-
tion on moral grounds is pointless. Condemnation is justified only on
pragmatic grounds. “It would be naive to preach morals,” said Stalin,
March 10, 1939, “to people who recognize no human morality. Politics is
politics, as the old, case-hardened bourgeois diplomats say. It must be re-
marked, however, that the big and dangerous political game started by the
supporters of the policy of non-intervention may end in a serious fiasco
for them. . ..” The policy in question could not work, and did not work,
because it was based on a false premise. The fruits of falsity were death
for millions, and infinite agony, enslavement and ruin for scores of millions.

The premise, plainly, was that the Fascist sadists of Germany, Italy, and
Japan, given their way, would leave the West in peace while they assaulted
and destroyed the Soviet Union. The modus operandi was to liquidate the
League, repudiate collective security, surrender Manchuria and Northern
China to Tokyo, give Hitler the Rhineland, approve Nazi rearmament,
yield Ethiopa to Italy, facilitate the Fascist conquest of Spain, acquiesce
in Austrian Anschluss, and contrive the destruction of Czechoslovakia—
all on the assumption of a Fascist attack on the USSR as promised over and
over again by Hitler, Rosenberg, Ribbentrop, Goebbels, Goering, Musso-
lini, Ciano, and their Japanese collaborators.

Wrote Lord Rothermere (The Daily Mail, November 28, 1933): “The
sturdy young Nazis of -Germany are Europe’s guardians against the Com-
munist danger . . . Once Germany has acquired the additional territory
she needs in western Russia, her need for expansion would be satisfied. . . .”
Germany, wrote the same paper on April 1, 1936, must have “a free hand
against Bolshevism.” This policy reached its culmination at Munich. On
October 18, 1938, Ambassador Francois-Poncet reported to Bonnet (F, 18)
that the Fuehrer wished to “stabilize peace in the West, so as to have a
free hand in the East.” Following the signature of the Nazi-French non-
aggression pact of December 6, 1938 (sequel to the Nazi-British non-
aggression pact of September 30), Bonnet declared (F, 32) that “it is the
struggle against Bolshevism which is essentially at the basis of the common
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German-Italian political conception.” On December 14, 1938, Ambassador
Robert Coulondre reported from Berlin (F, 33):

. .. The will for expansion in the East seems to me as undeniable
on the part of the Third Reich as its disposition to put aside—at least
for the present—any idea of conquest in the West. . . . To secure
mastery over Central Europe by reducing Czechoslovakia and Hungary
to a state of vassalage and then to create a Greater Ukraine under
German control—this is what essentially appears to be the leading
idea now accepted by the Nazi leaders . . . Romania must be subdued,
Poland won over, and Soviet Russia dispossessed. . . . They already
talk of the advance to the Caucasus and to Baku. . . . Among other
advantages, Hitler will see in a Ukrainian adventure an opportunity
to divert the attention of his people from internal difficulties.

According to Polish diplomatic documents published by Berlin in March,
1940, William C. Bullitt is reported to have told the Polish Ambassador
in Washington in November, 1938, that “it would be the wish of the demo-
cratic countries that armed conflict would break out in the East between
the German Reich and Russia . . . Germany would be obliged to wage a
long and weakening war . . . Carpatho-Ukraine would serve as a starting
point. . ..”

Hitler, for the moment making correct estimates of relative strength and
weakness among his neighbors, “betrayed” Daladier, Bonnet, Chamberlain,
and Halifax in March, 1939. The “betrayal” did not consist in the occu-
pation of Prague on March 14 (which London and Paris viewed com-
placently), but in the cession of Carpatho-Ukraine to Hungary on March
16—a step indicating postponement of the war against the East in favor
of war against the West. In alarm, Coulondre reported the new orienta-
tion on March 19 (F, 80): “Germany cannot accomplish her higher des-
tiny in the East until France has been crushed and, as a consequence,
Britain reduced to impotence on the Continent . . . The Reich, before
carrying out its vast program in the East will first turn against the Western
Powers . . . We must proceed without delay to industrial mobilization . . .”
The Western Munichmen suddenly realized that German policy was based on
“Mein Kampf.”

None of this is suggested, even in a footnote, in *“Nazi-Soviet Relations,”
nor are the weird Anglo-Soviet negotiations of 1939 more than hinted at.
These matters are assuredly discussed at length in German diplomatic docu-
ments which the State Department prefers not to publish. Yet the facts
are known and are quite simple. The original hope of the appeasers never
died even after Hitler’s “treachery.” Moscow was still willing and eager
to build 2 Grand Alliance to call a halt, however belatedly, to further
Fascist aggression. But the Munichmen so conducted the negotiations
as to make it clear beyond question that they not only desired no work-
able alliance but were, up to the bitter end, still gambling on a Nazi-Soviet
war in which they could give new blessings to Hitler’s Drang nach Osten
and play the always enviable role of Tertius Gaudens or “Happy Third.”
Such a denouement would have confronted the USSR with a danger more
deadly than that which it finally had to face. Moscow therefore did what
Tory folly compelled it to do.



The truly staggering proportions of that folly seem still to be generally
unappreciated. Perhaps they are best forgotten. But since General Mar-
shall, in his “smear-Russia” campaign, will not permit them to be for-
gotten, they must be recalled. The British Cabinet in January, 1940,
promised documents on the Anglo-Soviet discussion of 1939, but later
though better of the matter. Moscow long respected this reticence, but
has now revealed much of the story (“Falsifiers of History,” Part III) and
will doubtless reveal more. The salient facts have long been known.

London began building its proposed “peace front” by rejecting Litvinov’s
proposals for a conference to discuss concerted measures of defense. It
urged instead (March 21, 1939) a joint declaration to “consult” on steps
of joint resistance in the event of a threat to the “independence” of any
European State. When Moscow agreed, despite the complete inadequacy
of such a procedure, Downing Street at once dropped the proposal. On
March 31, London announced a unilateral British guarantee of Poland. The
protected State could obviously never be defended against Germany by
Britain but only by the USSR. The Cabinet of the Colonels in Warsaw
persistently refused all proposals of Soviet military support against the Reich
—and was encouraged to do so by London and Paris. Instead of coming
to terms with Moscow and then inducing Warsaw to accept a joint Anglo-
Soviet guarantee, London began by guaranteeing Warsaw and snubbing
Moscow. This course, said Lloyd George, Churchill, Eden and many others,
was futile, dangerous, and demented. The “guarantee,” moreover, left
the gate open for further appeasement—i.e., for giving Hitler a free hand
against Russia (and against Poland), if only he would resume the program
promised at Munich. The pledge, even when made bilateral on April 6,
was not a pledge to protect Polish territorial integrity but only “inde-
pendence,” against a “clear” threat from abroad. No Anglo-Polish treaty
of mutual aid was signed until August 24—after the Nazi-Soviet accord.
British commitments of April 13 to Greece and Romania reiterated the
same ambiguous formula,

Not until April 15, 1939, did London begin serious discussions with
Moscow. Halifax proposed that the USSR should declare that “in the
event of an act of aggression against any European neighbor of the Soviet
Union, who would offer resistance, the assistance of the Soviet Union
could be counted on if desired.” When Moscow proposed a binding alliance,
London refused, preferring that the USSR should merely commit itself to
fighting the Reich if Britain and France should fight the Reich in defense
of Poland or Romania. This demand was a perfect device for embroiling
Russia in conflict with Germany under circumstances in which France and
Britain would be free to stand aside. London made no new proposals for
three weeks. Litvinov resigned on May 3. Chamberlain and Halifax drew
no conclusions. “Where there is no reciprocity,” wrote Izvestia, May 11,
“real collaboration cannot be brought about.” *“If we are ready to be an
ally of Russia in time of war,” asked Churchill on May 19, “why should we
shrink from becoming an ally of Russia now, when we might by that very
fact prevent the breaking out of war?” The Munichmen still shrank from
any alliance and from any joint guarantee of the Baltic States.

Not until the end of May did London agree, reluctantly, to a Soviet
alliance. But Chamberlain still balked at any Baltic guarantee and refused
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to go to the USSR, though he had thrice flown to Germany in the name
of “peace for our time.” Wrote Churchill, June 6: “I have from the be-
ginning preferred the Russian proposals . . . They are simple, they are
logical, and they conform to the main groupings of common interest . . .
Nor should there be any serious difficulty in guaranteeing the Baltic States
and Finland. The Russian claim that these should be included in the triple
guarantee is well founded.”

Chamberlain complained that States “unwilling” to be guaranteed can-
not be guaranteed. He sent Munichman William Strang to Moscow to
assist Ambassador Seeds. Strang was instructed to agree only to *“con-
sultation” if the USSR should be threatened by German action in the
Baltic. In Pravda of June 29, Andrei Zhdanov expressed it as his “per-
sonal opinion” that Paris and London were indulging in “delays and pro-
crastinations,” were artificially inventing “stumbling blocks,” and in reality
“do not desire a treaty with the USSR that would be based on principles of
equality and reciprocity.” This judgment proved correct. A treaty pre-
supposed, in the worst event, an Anglo-French-Soviet war against the Axis
in which the defense of Poland and the Balticum against the Wehrmacht
could be undertaken only by the Red Army. Military access to Polish
territory, defense of the Baltic against aggression, direct or indirect, and
perhaps Soviet military bases in the Baltic were strategic prerequisites of
a viable alliance. But such arrangements would also involve a strength-
ening of Soviet power and might ultimately jeopardize Polish title to
Western Ukraine and Western Byelo-Russia, along with the “independ-
ence” of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. Such thoughts were anathema
to Chamberlain, Halifax, and the “Cliveden Set” who presided over Britain’s
road to ruin.?

President Roosevelt, hamstrung by an isolationist Congress, was unable
to do anything to persuade London and Paris to reach an accord with
Moscow. But one member at least (identity unknown) of the U.S. Em-
bassy Staff in Moscow did what he could to wreck the negotiations. He
told an aide of the German embassy that “we (i.e., the Germans) could at
any moment upset the British-French negotiations, if we abandoned our
support of Japan, sent our military mission back to China and delivered
arms to the Chinese” (Schulenberg, August 14, 1939, page 46 of “Nazi-
Soviet Relations™). . . .

At the end, the negotiations being deadlocked, Chamberlain announced
(July 31) a “military mission” to Moscow—at Molotov’s suggestion. It
consisted of nonentities. It waited a week before departing. It went not
by air but by a slow boat. It arrived in Moscow on August 11. It approved
Warsaw’s refusal to admit Soviet forces to Polish territory in case of war
with Germany. It proposed, in the event of war, that Britain furnish
six divisions, as compared with 136 for the USSR. It had no authority,

2 The Department of State, 1917-1922, consistently took the view that all these terri-
tories were properly part of Russia and refused to acknowledge Polish title to the Rus-
sian lands (western Ukraine and western Byelo-Russia), seized by Pilsudski’s armies in
1920 or to recognize the “independence” of Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania. See Bainbridge
Colby’s note, quoted on page 629 of SOVIET POLITICS. In his statement of July 23,
1940, championing Baltic “independence,” Sumner Welles conveniently forgot the earlier
position of his own government.
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moreover, to sign any agreement. The then leaders of the Western Powers,
having been offered a new opportunity to build a great coalition against
Axis aggression, treated it as they had earlier treated Soviet efforts to
establish an effective system of collective security—and for the same reason.
The men of Moscow drew the only conclusion that rational rulers, seriously
concerned with the best interest of their people could possibly draw.

The correctness of these conclusions is witnessed by other events in
the strange spring and summer of 1939. On May 19, Chamberlain described
as “‘a mare’s nest” the rumor that £6,000,000 in Czechoslovak gold, held in
London would be delivered to Hitler’s Reich. On May 23, it was revealed
that the transfer had actually been made. On July 20, it became known
that Sir Horace Wilson and Robert S. Hudson (Chamberlain’s chief eco-
nomic adviser) had been conferring with Dr. Helmuth Wohltat (Hitler’s
chief economic adviser) about a possible British loan of a billion pounds to
Germany. On July 24, Chamberlain told Commons that British subjects in
China must refrain from: any acts which might be prejudicial to the ob-
jectives of the Japanese invaders. Washington, Paris and London all blessed
Vatican efforts to arrange a new Munich. Amid frenetic discussions of a
possible Anglo-Nazi alliance (continuing right up to the announcement
of the Nazi-Soviet pact), Henderson told Hitler on August 23 (H, 260)
that he had never believed in an Anglo-Soviet pact and that if anyone
had to conclude a pact with Moscow, he preferred that Germany should
do so!

All of this is, of course, ignored in the State Department *revelations,”
where the impression is conveyed that Nazi-Soviet negotiations began on
April 17, on Soviet initiative, and were pursued perfidiously until their
climax in August. The documents indicate, however, that the German deci-
sion to begin serious parleys was reached at the end of May; that the Soviet
attitude led to a cessation of discussions at the end of June; and that Berlin
was prepared by the end of July to discuss an accord respecting Soviet
interests in Eastern Poland and the Baltic. The relationship between these
events and the chronology reviewed above shows that the Wilhelmstrasse
was fully informed of the actual course of the Anglo-Soviet negotiations—
unquestionably commented on, probably at length, in dispatches and memo-
randa which the State Department’s editors have thoughtfully omitted. The
final Soviet decision to make a pact with Germany, on terms effectively
limiting Nazi expansion and strengthening the USSR vis-a-vis the Reich,
was exclusively the consequence of British refusal to make a pact with the
Soviet Union on any terms which would effectively limit Nazi expansion
and strengthen the USSR vis-a-vis the Reich. All available evidence indi-
cates that any other interpretation of Soviet policy, however complex or
subtle, is wholly without foundation.

The State Department’s prize exhibit is the Secret Protocol (p. 78) to
the Treaty of Non-Aggression of August 23, 1939. The American press
and radio have presented it as a robbers’ pact whereby Hitler gave Stalin
Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Eastern Poland and Bessarabia, while Stalin gave
Hitler Lithuania and Western Poland. In fact, the document merely says
that “in the event of a territorial and political rearrangement,” the German
and Soviet “spheres of influence” shall be bounded by the northern frontier
of Lithuania and by the rivers Narew, Vistula and San. The later accord
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of September 28, signed by Ribbentrop in Moscow (pages 105-108) modi-
fied the line so as to place Lithuania, save for a small border strip, in the
Soviet sphere and an area of central Poland in the German sphere. The
inferences, nowhere stated or implied in the documents but dramatized ten
thousand times in horror-stricken tones by sundry anti-Soviet publicists, are
that Moscow “plotted” with Berlin to partition Poland; that the pact gave
the Nazis the “green light” to invade Poland; that the USSR eagerly joined
in the plunder; and that the Soviet Union thus precipitated World War II
by making itself Hitler’s partner in crime.

No greater misrepresentation of the established facts of the case is
imaginable. The Nazi decision to strike down Poland was reached four
months before the Nazi-Soviet pact. The pact was, on Moscow’s part, the
consequence of the decision, rather than the decision being the consequence
of the pact. No alternative was available, since the Polish Colonels reso-
lutely refused to accept Soviet aid and Downing Street resolutely refused
to conclude an alliance on workable terms. The theoretical alternative
of Soviet neutrality, without an accord with Berlin, would in practice have
meant either Nazi conquest of all of the old Polish state or Soviet inter-
vention, precipitating a German-Soviet clash at a time and in a context
which would have been disastrous to Soviet interests. Immediate responsi-
bility for war lies in the first instance with the Fascist madmen; in the
second, in the insane policies pursued by the Munichmen; and in the third,
in the incredible folly of the pre-war Polish ruling class. This is not
to say that the diplomacy of Moscow was virtuous, while that of Warsaw,
Paris, London, and Washington was vicious. Such judgments are irrelevant.
This is to say that the USSR alone among the non-Fascist powers, strove
through weary and tragic years to prevent war by halting Fascist aggres-
sion in time through concerted action, while France, Britain, and (for
somewhat different reasons) America made war inevitable by encouraging
Fascist aggression in the hope that the USSR would be its first major
target. -

(g)ther documents, again never hinted at in the State Department pub-
lication, fully support these conclusions. On April 3, 1939, Keitel issued
a “Directive for the Armed Forces, 1939-1940.” Plans for the annihila-
tion of Poland (“Case White”) were attached, with Hitler’s own direc-
tives: operation to be carried out September 1, 1939, or thereafter; stra-
tegic and tactical details for the timetable to be submitted May 1, 1939.2
Further directives for the conquesr of Poland were issued by the Wehr-
macht during May and June. “The Polish problem,” said Hitler in a
secret conclave of Generals, May 3, 1939, “is inseparable from conflict
with the West. . . . (We must) attack Poland at the first suitable oppor-
tunity.” By May 23, he is saying that if there is an Anglo-French-Soviet
alliance, France and Britain must be attacked first; if not, Poland must
be crushed while efforts are made to keep the West neutral, after which the
Western Powers will be struck down. By the end of June, all military plans

3 This and subsequent revelations are derived from documents presented by the prosecu-
tion during the Nuremberg trials. Full texts are not yet available. Only extracts were
used. These are summarized and quoted by Peter de Mendelssohn, THE NUREMBERG
DOCUMENTS (Allen & Unwin, London, 1946), published inthe U.S.A. under the title,
DESIGN FOR AGGRESSION.
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appear to have been completed for the blow against Poland and the decision
appears to be irrevocable, even as to the time of the operation. These facts
are confirmed by the diary of Count Ciano.

It thus appears that the Nazi madmen were determined to invade Poland
in September, 1939, and were ostensibly willing to risk general war even
if Paris and London had made an alliance with Moscow. In this event,
however, the decision might have been changed, or if not, the war would
almost certainly have been won by the Allies in shorter time and at in-
finitely less cost to all. Amazingly enough, Downing Street and the Quai
d’Orsay were fully aware that Hitler had already decided to crush Poland,
that Poland could be defended only by the USSR, and that failure to
conclude an Anglo-Soviet alliance would unquestionably be followed by
a German-Soviet pact. The “surprise” expressed by Chamberlain and
Daladier in late August, 1939, was pure sham. On June 20, 1939, the
“Friends of Europe Information Service” (London) revealed, with stupefy-
ing accuracy, the whole course of Nazi diplomacy and strategy for the
next six months, including the expectation of failure in the Anglo-Soviet
negotiations, the Nazi-Soviet pact, the annihilation of Poland, the “phony
war,” the “peace offensive” against the West,” etc.* As early as May 1,
Coulondre warned Paris that Hitler would aim at an accord with Moscow,
involving Polish partition, if the Anglo-Soviet negotiations failed (F, 123).
He repeated his warnings on May 9, May 22, and throughout the summer,
pleading in vain for an Anglo-French-Soviet pact as the only hope for
peace—or for victory, if Hitler should still take the sword (F, 124, 125,
127, 155, 176, 194, 199).

This means that Chamberlain, Halifax, Daladier, and Bonnet knew in
May of 1939, that Hitler was going to invade Poland and that their own
refusal to conclude an alliance with Moscow would, almost certainly, be
followed by a German-Soviet accord based on the premise of the inevitable
destruction of Poland. They could save Poland only by completing the
Soviet alliance on viable terms. They refused. They likewise sought in
the Hudson-Wohltat conversations of July, as reported by Ambassador
Dirksen from London, to reach a comprehensive accord with Hitler at the
expense of the Soviet Union and the Balkan States. They were indeed pre-
pared to abandon all guarantees to Poland and leave it to the mercies of
the Reich.® Failing such an amicable bargain, they still preferred the
annihilation of Poland and the conclusion of a Nazi-Soviet pact to an
alliance with Moscow. Why?

The only available answer is that the Munichmen hoped, to the very
end, to arrange a Nazi-Soviet war over the spoils of Poland rather than
join the USSR in a solid coalition against the Reich. Even in the final
hour, Bonnet did his best on September 1, 2, and 3, 1939, to abandon
Poland by accepting Mussolini’s offer of “mediation”—again in the wist-
ful expectation that the West could yet have “peace” if Berlin and Moscow
should clash in the East. He was overruled by Daladier who reluctantly

4 Full text in NIGHT OVER EUROPE, pages 266-168.

5 See “Falsifiers of History,” page 46f. The German documents regarding this pro-
jected *‘deal” are not yet available at the time of writing but are to be published soon in
Moscow.
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followed London in approving a declaration of war on the Reich. The
hopes of those who for thirty years have dreamed of the destruction
of the USSR do, in truth, die hard. The dreamers and schemers who courted
catastrophe, experienced disaster, and found salvation only through Soviet
heroism and sacrifice are still dreaming their old dreams. If they were
not, the State Department would never have published these Nazi docu-
ments—or it would have published them in full and with references to
other documents which would have told the truth.

Much prominence is given by the State Department’s editors to Nazi
documents dealing with trade relations between the Reich and the USSR,
1939-1941. The impression which it is sought to convey was well put
by the New York Times, February 18, 1948: “Soviet Russia . . . fed raw
materials to Hitler while he was busily invading Norway, Denmark, Hol-
land, France and Belgium and making war on Britain . . . Even as late as
April, 1941, Russian deliveries to Germany were still going strong. Thus in
that one month . . . Stalin sent Hitler, among other items, 90,000 tons of
petroleum and 208,000 tons of grain. Stoking Hitler’s war machine to run
wild over Europe was a curious defensive maneuver on Russia’s part.”

What the Times does not say, but what the documents do say (e.g.,
Schnurre, February 26, 1940 and September 76, 1940, pages 131 and 196),
is that Moscow insisted on German deliveries “in great volume” of indus-
trial products and processes, machinery, war materials, etc.; that some of
these required depletion of German war stocks; and that great efforts were
called for in the Reich to meet these schedules—which had to be met since
Moscow threatened to suspend its shipments to Germany if the goods it
desired were not forthcoming. Other sources indicate that Hitler was
obliged to give deliveries of war materials to Russia priority over deliveries
to the Wehrmacht. While full figures are not available, it is altogether
probable that this exchange of Soviet raw materials for German industrial
and military products, far from strengthening the German war economy,
weakened it and correspondingly increased Soviet war potential for the clash
to come.®

What the documents give no hint of is that for the better part of a
decade France, Britain, and the U.S.A., while banning arms and restrict-
ing other exports to the successive victims of Axis and Japanese aggression,
not only acquiesced in Nazi rearmament in violation of the Treaty of
Versailles and the German-American Treaty of 1921, but supplied arms
and other goods of all kinds to the Fascist war machines, along with loans
and credits and repeated offers of more to come if only the anti-Comintern
Powers would fulfill their pledged word—i.e., attack Russia. Scrap-iron,
oil, machinery, munitions and weapons flowed in a steady stream to Japan
from British, Dutch, and American sources almost to the eve of Pearl
Harbor. In Dusseldorf in March, 1939, the Federation of British Indus-
tries negotiated an elaborate series of accords with German trusts. The
Hudson-Wohltat parleys contemplated massive financial aid to the Reich.
The Schroeder bank, which helped to put Hitler in power, had an Ameri-
can affiliate directed by Allen Dulles (brother of John Foster Dulles) who,
according to German documents in Soviet possession, conducted secret

6 See on these matters the documents summarized in Mendelssohn, Op. Cit. pp. 263 f.
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negotiations in Switzerland in February, 1943, with Prince Hohenlohe,
envisaging the possibility of a separate peace based on “a cordon sanitaire
against Bolshevism and Pan-Slavism. . .. 7

The full story of the State Department’s role in these and related mat-
ters has not yet been fully told. The orientation of many other top
officers was such that President Roosevelt is alleged to have said, jestingly,
after Pearl Harbor that at least they would be neutral toward the Allied
cause. He repeatedly by-passed them in direct negotiations with Churchill
and Stalin, since he knew that they were more anti-Soviet than anti-Fascist.
Cordell Hull’s memoirs throw little light on these matters. But it is worth
recalling that when Drew Pearson in May, 1938, asserted that the granting
of export licenses for the shipment of munitions to Germany was a viola-
tion of the Treaty of 1921 and therefore of the Neutrality Act, Secretary
Hull replied that the charge was unfounded, since the treaty merely forbade
Germany to import arms from the U.S.A. and did not forbid the U.S.A.
to export arms to Germany.?

The State Department’s Nazi documents likewise give an utterly false
account of the Hitlerite decision to attack the USSR. They give no
account whatever of the efforts of the Western Powers to promote a Fascist
assault on the USSR. They contain no hint of another phenomenon of the
wasted years which although quite incredible and long since forgotten by
almost everyone in the West, can be fully documented from other sources
—i.e., the decision of the British and French Cabinets in the spring of 1940
to wage war not on Germany but on the Soviet Union.

Daladier, Weygand, Gamelin and Darlan made plans in January, 1940,
to attack Baku and the Soviet oil fields from Turkey. On February §, the
Allied Supreme War Council resolved to send troops to Finland to fight
the Red Army, then battling the forces of Baron Mannerheim after
Helsinki’s refusal to accept Soviet terms for an exchange of territories and
a mutual aid pact. FEarly in March, London asked Stockholm and Oslo
to permit passage of Allied troops to wage war on Russia. They refused.
An expedition of 100,000 men was assembled for the purpose. Despite the
Finnish-Soviet peace of March 12, the French and British General Staffs
continued to make plans for an attack on Soviet Transcaucasia, to be
launched in the summer—by which time, as it turned out, France was con-
quered by the Wehrmacht.? Later revelations indicate that Weygand and
De Gaulle, prior to the French debacle, drew up a plan to take Leningrad
via Finland, bomb Baku and Batum, occupy the Caucasus, and invade the
USSR from the south.

Whom the gods would destroy, they first afflict with paranoia and megalo-
mania. These disorders were the undoing of the Nazi psychopaths as well
as of the Western Munichmen. When and why the Nazi High Command
reached its fatal decision to attack Russia is no longer a mystery for those
prepared to dig up the available data. But since their number is small

7 See “Falsifiers of History.” General denials are scarcely convincing in view of the
available documentation.

8 See The New York Times, May 7, 8, 1938.

9 See GERMAN WHITE BOOKS, Nos. 4 and 6, 1940, summarized in NIGHT OVER
EURORPE, pp. 415-420. See also “Falsifiers of History,” pp. 53-54.
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the State Department, through a carefully dishonest selection of the Nazi
records, apparently assumed that it could foist upon the American public
a completely spurious version of these development. The version here given
corresponds to James F. Byrnes’ version in “Speaking Frankly.” In brief,
it runs as follows: friction developed between Berlin and Moscow in the
summer of 1940; Molotov came to Berlin, November 12-13, to discuss with
Hitler and Ribbentrop Soviet adherence to the Tripartite Pact through a
supplementary Four-Power Pact; Moscow was agreeable and indicated ap-
proval on five conditions: (1) withdrawal of German troops from Finland;
(2) a Soviet-Bulgarian mutual aid pact; (3) Soviet bases “within range of
the Bosporus and Dardanelles by means of a long-term lease;” (4) recog-
nition of the area between the Caucasus and the Persian Gulf as “the
center of the aspirations of the Soviet Union;” and (5) Japanese renuncia-
tion of coal and oil concessions in Northern Sakhalin. These terms were
deemed intolerable by Berlin and indicative of Soviet rapacity. Therefore,
on December 18, 1940, Hitler decided upon, and issued directives for,
“Operation Barbarossa”—i.e., the invasion of the USSR, launched on June
22, 1941.

This tale is a fabrication on three grounds: (A) the Soviet proposals were
designed to “sound out” German intentions and at no time contemplated
acceptance of any such pact as Ribbentrop had suggested; (B) the lesser
officials in the German Foreign Office and apparently all of the German
diplomats in Moscow were kept in the dark about Nazi military plans and
did not know, up to the very end, of the decision to attack the USSR;
(C) Nazi preparations to invade Russia were begun before, and not after
Molotov’s visit to Berlin.

Many of the German diplomats whose dispatches are here published were—
like Karl Haushofer and other German realists—bitterly opposed to all
plans to wage war on Russia. Ambassador Schulenberg, whose reports
make up the bulk of the State Department volume, was executed for com-
plicity in the plot to kill Hitler in July, 1944. The truth about Nazi
designs against the Soviet Union. like the truth about Nazi designs against
Poland, could have been revealed only by publishing material from the
Wehrmacht archives, not from the Foreign Office archives. Only one Wehr-
macht document appears in the publication; the directive of December 18,
1940, pp. 260-264. But at Nuremberg (in case the State Department
experts have forgotten) excerpts from Wehrmacht documents were used
to convict the war criminals.

They show, unmistakably, that secret preparations to attack the USSR
were initiated in August, 1940. Paulus was informed of them on Septem-
ber 3. Jodl hinted at the plan to Canaris on September 6. On October 6,
the code-word “Ostfall” appears in the Wehrmacht documents. On No-
vember 14, Raeder gathers, to his regret, that Hitler “is still inclined to
instigate the conflict with Russia.” Case Barbarossa is outlined in Wehr-
macht documents of December § and December 13, of which Directive
No. 21 of December 18 is merely a follow-up.!® Writes Cordell Hull (New
York Times, February 18, 1948), citing a secret report received in Janu-

10 See Mendelssohn, op. cit., pp. 254-262.
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ary, .1941: “As early as August, 1940 . . . conferences were taking place
at Hitler’s HQ concerning preparations for war against Russia.”

Here again, as in 1939, the facts indicate that Soviet policy was a result,
not a cause, of a Nazi decision to initiate war. One wonders what the
State Department editors and their superiors believed they could accom-
plish by so selecting the Nazi documents as to falsify the chronology. Their
purpose, clearly, was to depict the USSR as a co-aggressor with the Reich
in 1939 and to suggest that Hitler’s crusade of June, 1941, was in some
sense “‘justified” by Soviet demands and extortions. Yet the known facts
make it clear that the time sequence set forth by General Marshall’s
“editors” is a pure prevarication. To tell lies when available evidence
shows them to be lies is not clever but stupid.

There is no reason to assume that there is any law of destiny according
to which the stupid shall save the world or inherit the earth. Virtue some-
times triumphs over vice. Vice sometimes triumphs over virtue. But
stupidity almost never triumphs over intelligence. The State Department
of Truman and Marshall has here inflicted upon itself a major propagandistic
and diplomatic defeat by a false use of documents which is so clumsy as
to be almost moronic. '

If this were the only conclusion to be drawn from this miserable epi-
sode, it would scarcely warrant detailed analysis, even in the interest of
historical truth. Unhappily, this is but another illustration, albeit 2
peculiarly revealing one, of a general pattern of public attitudes and policies
in the Western democracies in the age which Konrad Heiden long ago
termed “Das Zeitalter der Verantwortungslosigkeit”: the Epoch of Irre-
sponsibility. To detail its tragic course would be to retell the entire his-
tory of our time. The major scenes are credible only to those who know
they happened and who know that decadence moves in mysterious ways its
blunders to perform. Here is Sir John Simon refusing all American pro-
posals to discuss joint action against Japanese aggression in Manchuria and
later, by special treaty, sanctioning Nazi rearmament. Here are the German
industrialists subsidizing Hitler to smash labor, enhance profits, and destroy
“Bolshevism.” Here are the Social Democrats in the Reichstag unani-
mously voting confidence in Hitler’s foreign policy on May 17, 1933—
two weeks after the Brownshirts have suppressed the German trade unions
and four weeks before the Social Democratic Party is outlawed. Here are
Sir Samuel Hoare and Pierre Laval selling out Ethiopia to Mussolini. Here
is the betrayal of the Spanish Republic by Leon Blum, Downing Street, and
the State Department; the suicide®of European democracy; the shame of
Vichy; the scandals of Franco, Darlan, Badoglio, Tsaldaris, Syngman Rhee,
Chiang Kai-Shek, etc.; the inanities and insanities of Bevin and Byrnes,
Truman and Vandenberg, Marshall and Bidault, Baruch and Austin, Taft
and Judd, Dewey and Stassen; the waste of victory, the killing of the UN,
the abandonment of peace-making in favor of war-making, etcetera ad
infinitum.

All these are parts of one whole. As Thomas Mann once put itz “They
no longer understand the world. . . . Perhaps they are already lost.” 1 do
not assume that the rulers of the Soviet Union, being human, are alto-
gether immune from such an indictment, nor do I believe that they are
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more virtuous than the rulers of France, Britain, and America. 1 submit,
however, that the policy-makers in Moscow are less victimized by blind
fear, that they are more concerned with social welfare than with private
gain, and are more aware of the realities of power than hypnotized by
illusions bred of doubt and guilt and avarice. 1 believe, above all, that in
dealing with the tragic facts of world politics under international anarchy,
they are more intelligent and effective than the rulers of the Western
Powers, partly because they are less afflicted with insoluble social contra-
dictions and economic dilemmas within their own community.

Those who rule the West are still trapped, now more than ever, in the
suicidal idea that they can solve their problems by refusing to make peace
with the USSR and by scheming for its destruction. This notion, which
has already inflicted appalling disasters on a whole generation, is less vicious
than stupid. It is still the leit-motif of American and British politics in
1948. If persisted in, it spells either the global triumph of Communism—
a prospect which seems to me wholly deplorable—or the self-immolation
of contemporary civilization—a prospect which seems to be a highly prob-
able and utterly irreparable catastrophe.

Americans have a final choice to make in 1948. If they choose to per-
petuate the reign of fear, hatred, ignorance, greed, and stupidity, they
will in all likelihood pass a death sentence upon themselves and all man-
kind. If they choose to begin anew to grapple with the problems of the
atomic age by entrusting authority to those who still have some capacity
for faith, love, wisdom, generosity, and intelligence, there will be bright
hope for a better life for all in days to come. The choice is grim, ines-
capable, infinitely fruitful if rightly made, and, if wrong, completely
fatal. America’s capacity to make it sanely will not be unrelated to Amer-
ica’s capacity to evaluate correctly the work of its own Department of
State in the Truman era.

(FREDERICK L. SCHUMAN, distinguished professor of political economy and
government, has been on the faculty of leading American universities. He
is the author of many outstanding books on Europesn and world affairs,
of which the latest is “Soviet Politics at Home and Abroad.”)
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I. How the Preparations for German
Aggression Began

HE American falsifiers and their British and French abettors are

trying to create the impression that the preparations for German ag-
gression which developed into the second world war began in the
autumn of 1939. But who nowadays save the most naive who are
prepared to believe any sensational hoax will swallow this? Who does
not know that Germany began preparing for war immediately after
Hitler’s advent to power? Who does not know, moreover, that the
Hitler regime was set up by the German monopolists with the full ap-
proval of the ruling camp in Britain, France and the United States?

In order to prepare for war and to provide herself with up-to-date
armament, Germany had to restore and develop her heavy industry
and, first and foremost, the metallurgical and war industries of the
Ruhr. After her defeat in the first imperialist war, and weighed down
moreover by the yoke of the Versailles Treaty, Germany could not have
accomplished this in a short space of time with her own unaided re-
sources. In this German imperialism received powerful assistance from
the United States of America.

Who does not know that in the post-Versailles period American
banks and trusts, with the full consent of their Government, made in-
vestments in the German economy and granted Germany credits run-
ning into billions of dollars, which were spent on the reconstruction
and development of her war-industrial potential?

It is general knowledge that a whole series of measures were taken
in the post-Versailles period to reconstruct Germany’s heavy industry
and, in particular, her war-industrial potential. Immense assistance
was rendered in this by the Dawes Reparations Plan, by means of which
the U. S. A. and Great Britain planned to make German industry de-
pendent upon American and British monopolies. The Dawes Plan
cleared the way for a powerful influx and infiltration of foreign, chiefly
American, capital into German industry. The result was that already
in 1925 the German economy began to expand, consequent upon an
intensive process of re-equipment of her production facilities. At the
same time her exports rose sharply, and by 1927 reached the level of
1913, while in the case of finished goods they even surpassed that level
by 12 per cent (at 1913 prices). In the six years 1924-1929, the in-

19



flux of foreign capital into Germany totalled more than 10-15 billion
Reichsmarks in long-term investments and more than 6 billion Reichs-
marks in short-term investments. According to some authorities, the
volume of capital investments was considerably higher. This led to a
colossal growth of Germany’s economic and, in particular, her war po-
tential. American investments played the leading part, amounting to
no less than 70 per cent of the total long-term loans.

The role played by the American monopolies, headed by the
duPont, Morgan, Rockefeller, Lamont and other industrial baronial
families, in financing German heavy industry and establishing the
closest ties between American and German industry is well known.
The leading American monopolies had intimate connections with Ger-
man heavy industrial, armament and banking concerns. DuPont de
Nemours, the leading American chemical concern and one of the biggest
shareholders in General Motors, and the British Imperial Chemical In-
dustries maintained close industrial relations with the German chemical
concern I. G. Farbenindustrie, with which in 1926 they concluded a
cartel agreement for the divicion of the world powder market. Before
the war the president of Rohm and Haas, Philadelphia (US.A.), was
a partner of the head of the same company in Darmstadt (Germany).
Incidentally, the former director of this concern, Rudolf Miiller, is now
active in Bizonia and is a prominent figure in the leading circles of the
Christian Democratic Union. The German capitalist Schmitz, presi-
dent of I. G. Farbenindustrie and a member of the board of the
Deutsche Bank, from 1931 to 1939 controlled the General Dyestuffs
Corporation, an American firm. After the Munich conference (1938),
American Standard Oil signed a contract with 1. G. Farbenindustrie,
under which the latter was given a share in the profits from the pro-
duction of aviation petrol in the United States, in return for which it
willingly agreed to cease exporting from Germany its own synthetic
petrol, which Germany was stocking for war purposes.

Such connections are not only typical of the American capitalist
monopolies. Extremely close economic relations, of not only commer-
cial but also military significance, existed on the outbreak of the war
between the Federation of British Industries and the German Reichs-
Industrie group. In 1939, representatives of these two monopolist as-
sociations issued a' joint statement in Disseldorf which said in part
that the purpose of the agreement was “to insure the fullest possible
co-operation between the industrial systems of their respective coun-
tries.” And this was at the time when Hitler Germany had swallowed
Czechoslovakia! No wonder the London “Economist” wrote in this
connection: “Is not there something in the Diisseldorf air that makes
reasonable men lose their senses?”*

* Corwin D. Edwards, “Economic and Political Aspects of International Cartels,”
1947.
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The Schréder bank, in which a leading part was played by the
German steel trust Vereinigte Stahlwerke A. G., organized by Stinnes,
Thyssen and other captains of Ruhr industry with headquarters in
New York and London, furnishes a typical example of the close inter-
locking of American and German, as well as British, capital. Allen
Dulles, director of the J. Henry Schréder Banking Corporation in New
York, which represented the Schroder interests in London, Cologne
and Hamburg, played a leading role in the affairs of this bank. An
outstanding role in the New York branch of the Schroder bank was
played by the law firm of Sullivan and Cromwell, headed by John
Foster Dulles, now Mr. Marshall’s chief adviser, and closely connected
with the Rockefeller world oil trust, Standard Oil, as well as with the
Chase National, the biggest bank in America, which made enormous
investments in German industry.

Richard Sasuly, in a book published in New York in 1947, stresses
the fact that no sooner had inflation in Germany in the post-Versailles
period been checked and the Reichsmark had gained stability than a
regular torrent of foreign loans poured into Germany. Between 1924
and 1930 Germany’s foreign debt increased by over 30 billion Reichs-
marks.

With the help of foreign, chiefly American, capital, German in-
dustry, especially the Vereinigte Stahlwerke A. G., was extensively re-
constructed and modernized. Some of the loans were granted directly
to the companies which played a leading part in the rearmament.*

Along -with the Anglo-German-American Schréder bank, a leading
part in financing the Vereinigte Stahlwerke A. G. in that period was
played by Dillon, Read & Co., one of the biggest New York banks, of
which the present Secretary of Defence, Forrestal, was a director for
a number of years.**

It was this golden rain of American dollars that fertilized the
heavy industry, and in particular the war industry, of Hitler Germany.
It was the billions of American dollars invested by overseas monopolies
in the war economy of Hitler Germany that rebuilt Germany’s war
potential and placed in the hands of the Hitler regime the weapons
it needed for its aggression.

With the financial support chiefly of the American monopolies,
Germany within a short period rebuilt a powerful war industry capable
of producing enormous quantities of first-rate weapons, many thousands
of tanks, aircraft, guns, naval ships of latest design and other arma-
ments.

* Richard Sasuly, “I. G. Farben,” Boni and Gaer, New York, 1947, p. 80.

** Stock Exchange Year Book, London, 1925; Who’s Who in America; Who's
Who in Finance, Banking and Insurance; Moody’s Manual of Railroads and Corporation
Securities; Poor’s Manual, 1924-1939.
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All this the falsifiers of history would now like to forget in their
desire to evade responsibility for their policy, a policy which armed
Hitler aggression, unleashed the second world war, and led to a mili-
tary holocaust without parallel in history which took a toll of millions
of human lives.

Therefore, it must not be forgotten that the first and foremost pre-
requisite of Hitler aggression was provided by the resurrection and
modernization of Germany’s heavy and war industry, and that this
was only made possible by the direct and extensive financial support
rendered by the ruling circles of the United States of America.

But this is not all.

Another decisive factor which helped to unleash Hitler aggression
was the policy of the ruling circles of Britain and France known as
the “appeasement” of Hitler Germany, the policy of renouncing col-
lective security. It should now be clear to everyone that it was pre-
cisely this policy of the British and French ruling circles, their renuncia-
tion of collective security, their refusal to resist German aggression,
their compliance with Hitler Germany’s aggressive demands, that led
to the second world war.

Let us turn to the facts.

In 1933, soon after Hitler came to power, as a result of the efforts
of the British and the French Governments a Pact of Accord and Co-
operation was signed in Rome by four powers—Great Britain, Germany,
France and Italy. This pact signified a compact between the British
and French Governments and German and Italian fascism, which even
at that time made no concealment of its aggressive intentions. The
pact with the fascist states furthermore signified a renunciation of the
policy of strengthening the united front of the peace-loving powers
against the aggressive states. At that very time the Disarmament Con-
ference was discussing the Soviet proposal for the conclusion of a non-
aggression pact and a pact defining an aggressor. By coming to terms
with Germany and Italy behind the backs of other powers taking part
in the conference, Great Britain and France dealt a blow to the cause
of peace and security of nations.

Soon after, in 1934, Britain and France helped Hitler to take
advantage of the hostile attitude toward the U.S.S.R. of their allies,
the gentry of Poland, the result of which was the conclusion of the
German-Polish non-aggression pact, which was an important stage
in the preparation of German aggression. Hitler needed this pact as
a means of disrupting the ranks of the adherents of collective security
and as an example to show that what Europe needed was not collective
security but bilateral agreements. This enabled the German aggressor
to decide for himself with whom and when to conclude agreements,
and whom and when to attack. The German-Polish pact undoubtedly
constituted the first serious breach in the edifice of collective security.

a
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Hitler, now grown bold, began to take open measures to rebuild
Germany’s armed forces, without encountering any opposition from the
rulers of Britain and France. On the contrary, soon after, in 1935, a
naval agreement between Britain and Germany was concluded in Lon-
don, where Ribbentrop had arrived for this purpose. Under this agree-
ment Great Britain consented to the restoration of Germany’s naval
forces to a strength almost equal to that of the French navy. In addi-
tion, Hitler obtained the right to build submarines to an aggregate ton-
nage equal to 45 per cent of the British submarine fleet. During this
same period Hitler Germany also took unilateral actions aimed at abol-
ishing all other restrictions to the growth of Germany’s armed forces
imposed by the Treaty of Versailles. These actions encountered no
opposition on the part of Britain, France and the U.S.A.

The appetites of the fascist aggressors grew by leaps and bounds,
It was certainly not accidental that at that time Germany and Italy
got away so easily with their armed interventions in Ethiopia and Spain,
with the manifest acquiescence of the U.S.A., Great Britain and France.

The Soviet Union alone consistently and firmly pursued a policy
of peace, championing the principles of equality and independence in
the case of Ethiopia, which was moreover a member of the League of
Nations, and the right of the lawful Republican Government of Spain
to receive support from the democratic countries against the German
and Italian intervention. Referring, at the session of the Central Ex-
ecutive Committee of the U.S.S.R. on January 10, 1936, to Italy’s
attack on Ethiopia, V. M. Molotov said:

“The Soviet Union has demonstrated in the League of Nations
its fidelity to this principle, the principle of the political inde-
pendence and national equality of all states, in the case of one
of the small countries—FEthiopia. The Soviet Union has also taken
advantage of its membership of the League of Nations to put into
practice its policy toward an imperialist aggressor.”*

V. M. Molotov further said:

“the Italo-Ethiopian war shows that the threat of a world war

is growing and is steadily spreading over Europe.”**

What were the Governments of the U.S.A., Great Britain and
France doing at a time when the fascist bandits were growing ever
more brazen in the treatment of their victims? They did not so much
as lift a finger to curb the German and Italian aggressors, to defend
the outraged rights of nations, to preserve peace and to halt an im-
pending second world war.

The Soviet Union alone was doing everything possible to block
the fascist aggressors. The Soviet Union was the initiator and champion

* V. M. Molotov, “Articles and Speeches, 1935-1936” p. 176.
** Ibid., p. 177.
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of collective security. As early as February 6, 1933, the Soviet repre-
sentative in the General Commission on Disarmament, M. M. Litvinov,
proposed that a declaration be adopted defining aggression and ag-
gressor. In proposing that a definition be given of an aggressor, the
Soviet Union held that it was necessary in the interest of general secur-
ity, and in order to facilitate agreement being reached for a maximum
reduction of armaments, to define the term “aggression” with the ut-
most possible precision, so as to “forestall every pretext for its justifi-
cation.” But the conference, acting under the direction of Britain and
France, rejected this proposal—to the advantage of German aggression.

Everybody knows what a persistent and prolonged struggle was
waged by the Soviet Union and by its delegation to the League of Na-
tions, headed by M. M. Litvinov, to maintain and strengthen collective
security. Throughout the whole pre-war period the Soviet delegation
upheld the principle of collective security in the League of Nations,
raising its voice in defence of this principle at practically, every session
and in practically every commission of the League. But, as we know,
the voice of the Soviet delegation was a voice crying in the wilderness.
The whole world is familiar with the proposals concerning measures
for the strengthening of collective security which, on August 30, 1936,
the Soviet delegation, acting on the instructions of the Soviet Govern-
ment, addressed to Mr. Avenol, Secretary General of the League of
Nations, with the request that they be discussed by the League. But
it is also known that these proposals were consigned to the League’s
archives without any action being taken on them.

It was clear that Britain and France, who at the time controlled
the League of Nations, rejected collective resistance to German aggres-
sion. They rejected collective security because it stood in the way of
their newly adopted policy of “appeasing” German aggression, their
policy of ceding to Hitler aggression. Naturally, this policy could not
but result in the intensification of German aggression, but the ruling
British and French circles believed that this was not dangerous because,
after satisfying Hitler aggression by concessions in the West, it could
then be directed to the East and utilized as a weapon against the U.S.S.R.

In his report to the Eighteenth Congress of the C.P.S.U.(B.), in
March 1939, J. V. Stalin, explaining the reasons for the growth of
Hitler aggression, said:

“The chief reason is that the majority of the non-aggressive
countries, particularly England and France, have rejected the policy
of collective security, the policy of collective resistance to the
aggressors, and have taken up a position of non-intervention, a
position of ‘neutrality’.”*

* J. V. Stalin, “Report on the Work of the Central Committee to the Eighteenth
Congress of the C.P.S.U.(B.).” (“Problems of Leninism,” p. §70.)
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Neal Stanford, an American journalist, asserts, with the idea of
misleading his readers and at the same time vilifying the Soviet Govern-
ment, that the Soviet Government was opposed to collective security,
that M. M. Litvinov was dismissed from the post of People’s Commissar
of Foreign Affairs and replaced by V. M. Molotov because he had been
pursuing a policy of strengthening collective security. It would be
hard to imagine anything more stupid than this fantastic assertion.
It should be obvious that M. M. Litvinov was not pursuing his own
personal policy but the policy of the Soviet Government. On the
cther hand, everybody knows how all through the pre-war period the
Soviet Government and its representatives, including M. M. Litvinov,
fought for collective security.

As regards the appointment of V. M. Molotov to the post of
People’s Commissar of Foreign Affairs, it is perfectly clear that in so
complex a situation, when the fascist aggressors were preparing a sec-
ond world war, when Great Britain and France, backed by the United
States of America, were directly abetting the aggressors and spurring
them on to war against the U.S.S.R., it was necessary to have in such a
responsible post as that of People’s Commissar of Foreign Affairs a
political leader of greater experience and greater popularity in the coun-
try than M. M. Litvinov.

The rejection by the Western Powers of a collective security pact
was not fortuitous. This was a period when a struggle between two
lines in international politics developed. One line strove for peace, for
the organization of collective security and for resistance to aggression
by the joint efforts of the peace-loving nations. This was the line of
the Soviet Union, which consistently and staunchly defended the in-
terests of all peace-loving nations, big and small. The other line re-
jected the organization of collective security, rejected opposition to
aggression, and this inevitably encouraged the fascist countries to in-
tensify their aggressive action and thereby helped to unleash a new war.

The historical truth, as can be seen from this, is that Hitler ag-
gression became possible, firstly, because the United States helped the
Germans to build at fast speed a war-economic base for German ag-
gression, and thus armed her aggression, and, secondly, because the
rejection of collective security by the ruling circles of Britain and
France disrupted the ranks of the peace-loving countries, disintegrated
their united front against aggression, cleared the way for German ag-
gression and helped Hitler to unleash a second world war.

What would have happened if the United States had not financed
Hitler Germany’s heavy industry, and if Britain and France had not
rejected collective security, but, on the contrary, had together with
the Soviet Union orgdnized collective resistance to German aggression?

Hitler’s aggression would not have had sufficient arms, Hitler’s an-
nexationist policy would have been gripped in the vice of a system of
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collective security. The Hitlerites’ chances of successfully unleashing a
second world war would have been reduced to a minimum. And if
the Hitlerites had nevertheless ventured, in spite of these unfavourable
conditions, to unleash a second world war, they would have been de-
fated in the very first year.

But this unfortunately was not the case, because of the fatal policy
pursued by the United States of America, Britain and France through-
out the pre-war period.

It is they that are to blame that the Hitlerites were able with some
measure of success to unleash a second world war that lasted nearly
six years and took a toll of millions of human lives.



II. Not a Struggle Against German
Aggression But a Policy of
Isolating the U.S.S.R.

SUBSEQUENT developments made it clearer than ever that by yield-
ing and conceding to the fascist countries—which in 1936 formed a
military-political bloc under the name of the Berlin-Rome Axis—the
ruling circles of Britain and France were only encouraging and im-
pelling Germany to aggression.

Having rejected the policy of collective security, Britain and
France adopted a position of so-called non-intervention, of which J. V.
Stalin said:

. . . the policy of non-intervention might be defined as follows:

‘Let each country defend itself from the aggressors as it likes and

as best it can. That is not our affair. We shall trade both with

the aggressors and with their victims.” But, actually speaking, the
policy of non-intervention means conniving at aggression, giving

free rein to war, and consequently, transforming the war into a

world war.”*

J. V. Stalin further said that

“. . . the big and dangerous political game started by the sup-
porters of the policy of non-intervention may end in a serious
fiasco for them.”**

Already in 1937 it became quite manifest that things were heading
for a big war planned by Hitler with the direct connivance of Great
Britain and France.

German Foreign Office documents captured by the Soviet troops
after Germany’s defeat reveal the true purport of Great Britain’s and
France’s policy at that period. They show that, essentially, British
and French policy was not to unite the forces of the peace-loving states
for a common struggle against aggression, but to isolate the U.S.S.R.
and direct Hitler aggression toward the East, against the Soviet Union,
using Hitler as a tool for their own ends.

* “Eighteenth Congress of the C.P.S.U.(B).” Stenographic Report. OGIZ,
1939, p. 13.
** Ibid., p. 14.
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The rulers of Britain and France were well aware of the funda-
mental trend of Hitler’s foreign policy, which Hitler himself had
defined as follows:

“We, National Socialists, consciously put an end to our pre-
war foreign policy. We begin where we ended six centuries ago.
We stop the Germans® eternal drive to Europe’s South and West
and turn our eyes to the lands in the East. We break, at last,
with the colonial and commercial policies of the pre-war times
and go over to a territorial policy of the future. But when we,
now, in Europe, speak of new lands, we can have in mind first
of all only Russia and the bordering countries under her rule. Des-
tiny itself seems to show us the way.”*

It was customary until recently to consider that the entire re-
sponsibility for the Munich policy of treachery rests with the ruling
circles of Britain and France, with the Chamberlain and Daladier Gov-
ernments. The fact that the American Government undertook to pub-
lish materials from the German archives, yet excluded the documents
pertaining to the Munich agreement, shows that the United States
Government is interested in white-washing the heroes of the Munich
betrayal and wants at the same time to put the blame on the Soviet
Union.

The basic purpose of Britain’s and France’s Munich policy was
sufficiently clear before. However, documents from the archives of
the German Foreign Ministry now at the disposal of the Soviet Govern-
ment furnish abundant additional data shedding light on the true
meaning of the pre-war diplomacy of the Western Powers. They show
how the destinies of nations were played with, how brazenly other
peoples’ territories were bartered, how the map of the world was secretly
redrawn, how Hitler aggression was encouraged, and what efforts were
made to direct that aggression toward the East, against the Soviet
Union.

This is eloquently illustrated by a German document recording
a conversation between Hitler and British Minister Halifax, in the
presence of von Neurath, the German Foreign Minister, in Obersalz-
berg, on November 19, 1937,

Halifax declared that

“he [Lord Halifax] and other members of the British Government
were fully aware that the Fithrer had not only achieved a great
deal inside Germany herself, but that, by destroying Communism
in his country, he had barred its road to Western Europe, and

* A. Hitler, “Mein Kampf,” Munich, 1936, p. 742,
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that Germany, therefore, could rightly be regarded as the bastion
of the West against Bolshevism.”*

Speaking on behalf of British Prime Minister Chamberlain, Hali-
fax pointed out that there was every possibility of finding a solution
even of difficult problems .if Germany and Britain could reach agree-
ment with France and Italy too.

Halifax said that

“there should not be the impression that the Berlin-Rome Axis
or the good relations between London and Paris would suffer as
the result of an Anglo-German rapprochement. After the ground
is prepared by the Anglo-German rapprochement, the four great
West-European Powers™* must jointly lay the foundation for last-
ing peace in Europe. Under no conditions should any of the four
powers remain outside this co-operation, or else there would be no
end to the present unstable situation.”***

Thus, already in 1937, Halifax, on behalf of the British Govern-
ment, proposed to Hitler that Britain, as well as France, join the Berlin-
Rome Axis.

To this proposal, however, Hitler replied with a statement to the
effect that such a four-power agreement seemed to him very easy to
arrange if it was just a matter of mutual good will and courtesy, but
it would prove more complex if Germany were not regarded “as a state
which no longer carried the moral and material stigma of the Treaty
of Versailles.”

In reply to this, Halifax, according to the record, said:

“Britons are realists, and are perhaps more than others con-
vinced that the errors of the Versailles dictate must be rectified.
Britain always exercised her influence in this realistic sense in the
past. He pointed to Britain’s role with regard to the evacuation of
the Rhineland ahead of the fixed time, the settlement of the repara-
tions problem, and the reoccupation of the Rhineland.”****

It is further evident from the record of Hitler’s conversation with
Hahfax that the Brltlsh Government viewed with favour Hitler’s plans
for the “acquisition” of Danzig, Austria and Czechoslovakia. Having
discussed with Hitler the questions of disarmament and the League of
Nations and having remarked that these questions required further
discussion, Halifax said:

* “Record of a Conversation between the Fithrer and Reichskanzler and Lord
Halifax, in the presence of the Reichsminister of Foreign Affairs, in Obersalzberg,
Nov. 19, 1937”*; from the Archives of the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

** I e., Great Britain, France, Germany and Italy.
Rt “Record of a Conversation, etc.’
* % H % Ibld
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“All other questions can be characterized as relating to changes
in the European order, changes that sooner or later will probably
take place. To these questions belong Danzig, Austria and Czecho-
slovakia. Britain is only interested that these changes shall be
effected by peaceful evolution so as to avoid methods which may
cause further convulsions undesired either by the Fiihrer or by
the other countries.”*

This conversation, it will be seen, was not a mere sounding, not
a mere probing of an interlocutor which is sometimes called for by
political necessity; it was a deal, a secret agreement between the British
Government and Hitler to satisfy his annexationist appetites at the
expense of other countries.

Noteworthy in this connection is a statement made in Parliament
by the British Minister John Simon on February 21, 1938, to the effect
that Great Britain had never given special guarantees of Austria’s in-
dependence. This was a deliberate lie, because such guarantees were
given by the Versailles and St. Germain treaties.

British Prime Minister Chamberlain declared at that same time
that Austria could not count upon receiving any protection from the
League of Nations.

“We must not try to delude ourselves and still more we
must not try to delude small weak nations into thinking that they
will be protected by the League against aggression and acting ac-
cordingly when we know that nothing of the kind can be
expected.”**

In this way the makers of British policy encouraged Hitler to
annexationist actions.

In the German archives captured by the Soviet troops in Berlin
there is also a record of a conversation between Hitler and the British
Ambassador to Germany, Neville Henderson, which took place in the
presence of Ribbentrop on March 3, 1938.*** Henderson began by
stressing the confidential nature of the conversation, stating that its
content would be withheld from the French, Belgians, Portuguese and
the Italians, who would be merely told that the conversation was a
continuation of the negotiations that had been carried on between
Halifax and Hitler and related to questions concerning Germany and
Britain.

Speaking on behalf of the British Government, Henderson in this
conversation stressed that

* Ibid.
**  “Times,” February 23, 1938, p. 8.

*#% “Record of a Conversation between the Fithrer (and Reichskanzler) and His
Britannic Majesty’s Ambassador which took place in the presence of Reichsminister for
Foreign Affairs von Ribbentrop, on March 3, 1938, in Berlin”; from the Archives of
the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs. ’
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“this is not a commercial deal but an attempt to establish a basis
for genuine and cordial friendship with Germany, beginning with
an improvement of the situation and finishing with the creation
of a new spirit of friendly understanding.”*

Henderson offered no objection to Hitler’s demand to “unite Europe
without Russia,” pointing out that Halifax, who by then had become
Foreign Secretary, had already agreed to the territorial changes which
Germany intended to make in Europe, and that

“the purpose of the British proposal was to participate in such a
reasonable settlement.”

Henderson, according to the record, also said that Chamberlain
“displayed great courage when, heeding nothing, he unmasked
such international phrases as collective security, etc.”

*, . . Therefore,” added Henderson, “Britain declares her
readiness to remove all difficulties and asks Germany whether she
is prepared, on her part, to do the same.”**

When Ribbentrop intervened and drew Henderson’s attention to
the fact that the British Minister to Vienna had “in a dramatic way”
made a statement to von Papen on the events in Austria, Henderson
hastened to dissociate himself from the statement of his colleague, de-
claring that “he, Neville Henderson, had often expressed himself in
favour of Anschluss.”

Such was the language of pre-war British diplomacy.

Immediately after this deal, Hitler, on March 12, 1938, annexed
Austria, and met with no resistance from Britain or France. At that
time only the Soviet-Union raised a voice of warning, and once again
appealed for the organization of collective protection of the indepen-
dence of the countries threatened by aggression. On March 17, 1938,
the Soviet Government sent a note to the Powers in which it expressed
its readiness to “discuss immediately with other powers in or outside
the League of Nations practical measures” which “would have the pur-
pose of stopping further aggression and eliminating the increased danger
of a new world holocaust.”*** The reply of the British Government to
the Soviet note testified to the unwillingness of the British Government
to create obstacles to Hitler’s plans of aggression.

The reply stated that a conference for taking
“concerted action against aggression would not necessarily, in the

view of His Majesty’s Government, have such a favourable effect
upon the prospects of European peace.”****

* Ibid.
** Tbid.
**% “Izvestia,” March 18, 1938.
*x%* Note of the British Foreign Office of March 24, 1938.
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The next link in the chain of German aggression and preparation
of war in Europe was the seizure by Germany of Czechoslovakia. This
most important step toward the unleashing of war in Europe could
likewise be taken by Hitler only with the direct support of Britain and
France.

On July 10, 1938, Dirksen, the German Ambassador to London,
reported to Berlin that for the British Government

“one of the most essential planks of its program is to find a com-
promise with Germany,” and that “this Government displays with
regard to Germany the maximum understanding that could be dis-
played by any of the likely combinations of British politicians.”*

Dirksen wrote that the British Government

“has come nearer to understanding the most essential points of
the major demands advanced by Germany, with respect to exclud-
ing the Soviet Union, as well as the League of Nations, from the
decision of the destinies of Europe, and of the advisability of
bilateral negotiations and treaties.”

Dirksen also reported to Berlin that the British Government was
prepared to make great sacrifices to “meet Germany’s other just
demands.”

Thus far-reaching accord on foreign policy was actually estab-
lished between the British Government and Hitler, as Dirksen so lucidly
reported to Berlin.

It is not necessary to recall the universally known facts directly
relating to the Munich deal. But one cannot forget that on September
19, 1938, ie., four days after Hitler’s meeting with Chamberlain, who
flew to Berchtesgaden, Hitler’s residence, for the purpose, representa-
tives of the British and French Governments demanded of the Czecho-
slovak Government that it cede to Germany the Czechoslovak regions
populated mainly by Sudeten Germans. They alleged that if this de-
mand were not complied with it would be impossible to preserve peace
and protect Czechoslovakia’s vital interests. The British and French
sponsors of Hitler aggression attempted to cover their treachery with
the promise of an international guarantee of Czechoslovakia’s new
frontiers as “‘a contribution to the pacification of Europe.”**

On September 20, the Czechoslovak Government replied to the
Anglo-French proposals. It declared that “the acceptance of such pro-
posals would be tantamount to the voluntary and full disruption of
the state in all its directions.” The Czechoslovak Government drew the

* “Political Report, July 10, 1938, in supplement to Report A No. 2589 of
June 10, 1938”; from the Archives of the German Foreign Office.

** Correspondence Respecting Czechoslovakia, September 1938, London, 1938,
Cmd 5847, pp. 8-9.
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attention of the British and French Governments to the fact that “the
paralysis of Czechoslovakia would result in deep political changes in
all Central and Southeastern Europe.”

“The balance of power in Central Europe and in Europe in
general,” stated the Czechoslovak Government in its reply, “would
be destroyed; that would entail far-reaching consequences for all
the other states and especially for France.”

The Czechoslovak Government made a “last appeal” to the Gov-
ernments of Britain and France to reconsider their position, emphasizing
that it would be in the interest not only of Czechoslovakia, but of her
friends as well, in the interest of “the entire cause of peace and the cause
of the healthy development of Europe.”

The rulers of Britain and France were implacable. The next day
the British Government sent a reply to the Czechoslovak Gevernment
suggesting that the latter withdraw its answer to the original Anglo-
French proposals and “speedily and seriously weigh over the matter”
before creating a situation for which the British Government could
take no responsibility. The British Government further emphasized
that it could not believe that the Czechoslovak proposal of arbitration
would now be acceptable. The British Government, the note stated,
did not think “the German Government will consider the situation to
be such as could be solved by arbitration, as suggested by the Czzcho-
slovak Government.”

The British note concluded with the warning threat that if the
Czechoslovak Government rejected Britain’s advice, the Czechoslovak
Government “will be free to take any steps it may deem befitting the
situation that may develop later.”

The conference between Hitler, Chamberlain, Mussolini and Dala-
dier in Munich on September 29 and 30, 1938, marked the consumma-
tion of the disgraceful deal, which had been fully arranged beforehand
by the chief participants of the plot against peace. The fate of Czecho-
slovakia was decided behind her back. Her representatives were in-
vited to Munich only meekly to await the conclusion of the compact
of the imperialists.

The entire conduct of Britain and France left no doubt that this
unparalleled act of treachery on the part of the British and French
Governments toward the Czechoslovak people and the Czechoslovak
Republic was not a mere episode in the policy of Britain and France,
but, on the contrary, was a major link in their policy of directing Hitler
aggression against the Soviet Union.

The true meaning of the Munich conspiracy was exposed at the
time by J. V. Stalin, when he said that “the districts of Czechoslovakia
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were yielded to Germany as the price of an undertaking to launch war
on the Soviet Union.”*

The whole essence of the policy of the ruling circles of Britain
and France in that period was disclosed by J. V. Stalin at the Eighteenth
Congress of the C.P.S.U.(B.) in March 1939, in the following words:

“The policy of non-intervention means conniving at aggres-
sion, giving free rein to war, and, consequently, transforming the
war into a world war. The policy of non-intervention reveals
an eagerness, a desire not to hinder the aggressors in their nefarious
work: not to hinder Japan, say, from embroiling herself in a war
with China, or, better still, with the Soviet Union; not to hinder
Germany, say, from enmeshing herself in European affairs, from
embroiling herself in a war with the Soviet Union; to allow all
the belligerents to sink deeply into the mire of war, to encourage
them surreptitiously in this; to allow them to weaken and exhaust
one another; and then, when they have become weak enough, to
appear on the scene with fresh strength, to appear, of course, ‘in
the interests of peace,” and to dictate conditions to the enfeebled

belligerents.”**

The Munich agreement was greeted with indignation and emphatic
condemnation in the democratic circles of various countries, including
the United States of America, Great Britain and France. The attitude
of these circles toward the Munich treachery of the British and French
rulers may be judged from statements made, for instance, by Sayers
and Kahn, who in their book, “The Great Conspiracy: The Secret War
Against Soviet Russia,” published in the U.S.A., had the following to
say about Munich:

“The Governments of Nazi Germany, fascist Italy, Great
Britain and France signed the Munich Pact—the anti-Soviet Holy
Alliance of which world reaction had been dreaming since 1918.
The Pact left Soviet Russia without allies. The Franco-Soviet
Treaty, cornerstone of European collective security, was dead.
The Czech Sudetenland became part of Nazi Germany. The gates
of the East were wide open for the Wehrmacht.”***

Through all the phases of the Czechoslovak tragedy, the Soviet
Union alone of all the Great Powers vigorously championed the inde-
pendence and the national rights of Czechoslovakia. The Governments
of Britain and France, seeking to justify themselves in the eyes of the

* “Eighteenth Congresss of the C.P.S.U.(B.).” Stenographic Report. OGIZ,
1939, p. 14.
** “Fighteenth Congress of the C.P.S.U.(B.).” Stenographic Report. OGIZ
1939, p. 13.
*%%* Sayers and Kahn, “The Great Conspiracy: The Secret War Against Soviet
Russia,” Boston, 1946, pp. 324-325.

34



public, hypocritically declared that they did not know whether or not
the Soviet Union would live up to the pledges it gave Czechoslovakia
in the treaty of mutual assistance. But this was a deliberate falsehood,
for the Soviet Government had publicly announced its readiness to
come to Czechoslovakia’s aid against Germany in accordance with the
terms of that treaty, which provided that France should come to
Czechoslovakia’s aid simultaneously. France, however, refused to dis-
charge her duty.

All this notwithstanding, on the eve of the Munich deal the Soviet
Government again declared that it was in favour of convening an
international conference to render Czechoslovakia practical aid and
to take practical measures for the preservation of peace.

When the seizure of Czechoslovakia became a fact, and the govern-
ments of the imperialist countries, one after another, had proclaimed
their recognition of the fait accompli, the Soviet Government, in its
note of March 18, branded the annexation of Czechoslovakia by Hitler
Germany, with the complicity of Britain and France, as 2 wanton act
of violence and aggression. The Soviet Government stressed that by
her acts Germany had created and aggravated a menace to universal
peace, had “upset political stability in Central Europe, increased the
state of alarm already created in Europe, and dealt a fresh blow to the
sense of security of the nations.”*

But the betrayal of Czechoslovakia to Hitler was not the end of it.
The Governments of Britain and France ran over one another in their
eagerness to sign broad political agreements with Hitler Germany. On
September 30, 1938, an Anglo-German declaration was signed by
Chamberlain and Hitler in Munich. It stated:

“We have continued today our conversation and have unani-
mously come to the conviction that Anglo-German relations are
of paramount importance to both countries and to Europe. We
regard the agreement signed yesterday evening and the Anglo-
German naval agreement as symbolical of the desire of both our
peoples never to wage war against each other. We are resolved to
consider other questions, too, which concern both our countries
by means of consultation and to strive in future to eliminate all
causes generating discord, so as to facilitate the maintenance of
peace in Europe.”**

This was a declaration of mutual non-agression on the part of
Britain and Germany.

On December 6, 1938, the Bonnet-Ribbentrop Franco-German
declaration, similar to the Anglo-German, was signed. It stated that

* “Izvestia,” March 20, 1939.
*% “Archiv fir Aussenpolitik und Linderkunde,” September, 1938, P. 483.
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the German and French Governments were at one in their belief that
peaceful and good-neighborly relations between Germany and France
were a cardinal condition for the consolidation of European relations
and for the maintenance of universal peace, and that both Governments
would do their utmost to maintain such relations between their coun-
tries. The declaration further stated that there were no longer any
territorial disputes between France and Germany and that the existing
boundary between the two countries was final. The declaration con-
cluded by saying that both Governments were firmly resolved, ir-
respective of their separate relations with third Powers, to maintain
contact on all matters concerning their countries and to confer with
each other should these matters, in their further development, lead to
international complications.

This was a declaration of mutual non-aggression on the part of
France and Germany.

Essentially, these agreements meant that both Britain and France
had concluded pacts of non-aggression with Hitler.

These agreements with Hitler Germany revealed with perfect clar-
ity that the British and French Governments were seeking to guard
themselves from the menace of Hitler aggression, believing that the
Munich and similar agreements had already flung the gates wide open
for Hitler aggression in the East, in the direction of the Soviet Union.

In this way the political conditions necessary for “uniting Europe,
without Russia” were created.

The objective was the complete isolation of the Soviet Union.



III. Isolation of the Soviet Union.
The Soviet-German Non-Aggresssion
Pact

FOLLOWING the seizure of Czechoslovakia, fascist Germany pro-
ceeded with her preparations for war quite openly, before the eyes of
the whole world. Hitler, encouraged by Britain and France, no longer
stood on ceremony or pretended to favour a peaceful settlement of
European problems. The most dramatic months of the pre-war period
had come. At that time it was already clear that every day was bring-
ing mankind nearer to an unparalleled catastrophic war.

What was the policy at that time of the Soviet Union on the
one hand, and of Great Britain and France on the other?

The attempt of the American falsifiers of history to avoid answer-
ing this question merely goes to prove that their conscience is not clear.

The truth is that even in the fateful period of the spring and
summer of 1939, on the threshold of war, Britain and France, supported
by United States ruling circles, continued their former line of policy.
This was a policy of maliciously inciting Hitler Germany against the
Soviet Union camouflaged by pharisaical avowals of readiness to co-
operate with the Soviet Union, as well as by certain simple diplomatic
manoeuvres designed to conceal the real character of their policy from
the world.

Of these manoeuvres the first were the negotiations which Britain
and France decided to open with the Soviet Union in 1939. In order
to deceive public opinion the ruling circles of Britain and France tried
to create the impression that these negotiations were a serious attempt
to prevent the further spread of Hitler aggression. In the light of the
subsequent developments, however, it became perfectly clear that as
far as the Anglo-French side was concerned these negotiations were
from the very beginning nothing but another move in their double
game.

This was also clear to the leaders of Hitler Germany, for whom
the meaning of the negotiations with the Soviet Union undertaken by
the Governments of Britain and France was certainly no secret. Here,
as can be seen from documents captured by the Soviet Army at the
time of Hitler Germany’s defeat, is what the German Ambassador to
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London, Dirksen, wrote in his report to the German Foreign Ministry
on August 3, 1939:

“The prevailing impression here was that [Britain’s] ties with
other states formed during the recent months were only a reserve
means for a real reconciliation with Germany and that these ties
would cease to exist as soon as the one important aim worthy of
effort—agreement with Germany—was achieved.”

This opinion was firmly shared by all German diplomats who
watched the situation in London.

In another secret report to Berlin, Dirksen wrote:

“By means of armaments and the acquisition of allies, Britain
wants to gain strength and catch up with the Axis, but at the
same time she wants to try to reach an amicable agreement with
Germany by means of negotiations.”*

The slanderers and falsifiers of history are trying to conceal these
documents, since they shed a vivid light on the situation which de-
veloped in the last pre-war months, without a correct assessment of
which it is impossible to understand the true pre-history of the war.
In undertaking negotiations with the Soviet Union and extending
guarantees to Poland, Rumania and other states, Britain and France,
with the support of U.S. ruling circles, were playing a double game,
calculated to lead to an agreement with Hitler Germany with the aim
of directing her aggression to the East, against the Soviet Union.

Negotiations between Britain and France, on the one hand, and
the Soviet Union, on the other, began in March 1939 and continued
for about four months.

The whole course of these negotiations made it perfectly manifest
that whereas the Soviet Union was striving to reach a broad agreement
with the Western Powers, on a basis of equality, an agreement capable
of preventing Germany, even at the eleventh hour, from starting war
in Europe, the Governments of Britain and France, backed by support
in the United States, set themselves entirely different aims. The ruling
circles of Britain and France, who were accustomed to having others
pull the chestnuts out of the fire for them, on this occasion too at-
tempted to inveigle the Soviet Union into assuming commitments under
which it would have taken upon itself the brunt of the sacrifice in
repulsing eventual Hitler aggression, while Britain and France would
not be bound by any commitments toward the Soviet Union.

If the rulers of Britain and France had succeeded in this manoeuvre,
they would have come much closer to attaining their major objective,
which was to set Germany and the Soviet Union at loggerheads as

* Dirksen’s memorandum: “On the Development of Political Relations Between
Germany and Britain During My Term of Office in London,” September, 1939.
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quickly as possible. The Soviet Government, however, saw through
the design, and at all stages of the negotiations countered the diplomatic
trickery and subterfuges of the Western Powers with clear and frank
proposals designed to serve but one purpose—the safeguarding of peace
in Europe.

There is no need to recount all the vicissitudes of the negotiations.
We need only bring to mind a few of the more important points. Suffice
it to recall the terms put forward in the negotiations by the Soviet
Government: conclusion of an effective pact of mutual assistance
against aggression between Britain, France and the U.S.S.R.; a guaran-
tee by Britain, France and the U.S.S.R. to the states of Central and
Eastern Europe, including all European countries bordering on the
U.S.S.R. without exception; conclusion of a concrete military agree-
ment between Britain, France and the U.S.S.R. on the forms and extent
of immediate effective aid to each other and to the guaranteed states
in the event of an attack by aggressors.*

At the Third Session of the Supreme Soviet of the U.SS.R., on
May 31, 1939, V. M. Molotov pointed out that some of the Anglo-
French proposals made in the course of these negotiations contained
none of the elementary principles of reciprocity and equality of obli-
gations which are indispensable in all agreements between equals.

“While guaranteeing themselves,” said V. M. Molotov, “from
direct attack on the part of aggressors by mutual assistance pacts
between themselves and with Poland, and while trying to secure
for themselves the assistance of the U.S.S.R. in the event of an
attack by aggressors on Poland and Rumania, the British and
French left open the question of whether the U.S.S.R. in its turn
might count on their assistance in the event of its being directly
attacked by aggressors, just as they left open another question,
namely, whether they would be a party to guaranteeing the small
states bordering on the U.S.S.R. and covering its northwestern
frontiers, should these states prove unable to defend their neu-
trality from attack by aggressors. Thus the position was one of
inequality for the U.S.S.R.”

Even when the British and French representatives gave verbal
assent to the principle of mutual assistance on terms of reciprocity be-
tween Britain, France and the U.S.S.R. in the event of a direct attack
by an aggressor, they hedged it in with a number of reservations which
rendered this assent fictitious.

In addition, the Anglo-French proposals provided for the render-
ing of assistance by the U.S.S.R. to those countries to which the British
and French had given a promise of guarantees, but said nothing about

* See: Report by V. M. Molotov to the Third Session of the Supreme Soviet of
the U.S.S.R., May 31, 1939.
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themselves coming to the assistance of the countries on the northwestern
frontier of the U.S.S.R., the Baltic States, in the event of an aggressor
attacking them.

Taking into account these considerations, V. M. Molotov an-
nounced that the Soviet Union could not undertake commitments in
respect of some countries unless similar guarantees were given in respect
of the countries bordering on the northwestern frontiers of the Soviet
Union.

It should also be remembered that when, on March 18, 1939, Seeds,
the British Ambassador to Moscow, asked the People’s Commissar of
Foreign Affairs what the Soviet Union’s position would be in the
event of Hitler aggression against Rumania—concerning the prepara-
tion for which the British were in possession of information—and when
the question was then raised by the Soviet side as to what Britain’s
position would be under those circumstances, Seeds evaded a reply with
the remark that Rumania was geographically closer to the Soviet Union
than it was to England.

It was thus quite clear from the very first that British ruling circles
were endeavouring to bind the Soviet Union to definite commitments
while standing aloof themselves. This artless device was repeated regu-
larly again and again throughout the whole course of the negotiations.

In answer to the British inquiry, the Soviet Government suggested.
that a conference be called of representatives of the most interested
states—namely, Great Britain, France, Rumania, Poland, Turkey and
the Soviet Union. In the opinion of the Soviet Government such a
conference would offer the best opportunity to ascertain the real state
of affairs and determine the position of each of the participants. The
British Government, however, replied that it considered the Soviet
proposal premature.

Instead of a conference, which would have made it possible to
come to agreement on concrete measures to combat aggression, the
British Government, on March 21, 1939, proposed that it and the
Soviet Government, as well as France and Poland, should sign a declara-
tion in which the signatory governments would obligate themselves to
“consult together as to what steps should be taken to offer joint re-
sistance” in case of a threat to “the independence of any European
state.” In arguing that this proposal was acceptable, the British Am-
bassador laid particular emphasis on the point that the declaration was
couched in very noncommittal terms.

It was quite obvious that such a declaration could not serve as
an effective means of averting the impending threat of aggression.
Believing, however, that even so unpromising a declaration might con-
stitute at least some step toward curbing the aggressor, the Soviet Gov-
ernment accepted the British proposal. But already on April 1, 1939,
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the British Ambassador in Moscow intimated that Britain considered
the question of a joint declaration as having lapsed.

After two more weeks of procrastination the British Foreign Secre-
tary, Halifax, through the Ambassador in Moscow, made another pro-
posal to the Soviet Government: namely, that it should issue a state-
ment declaring that “in the event of an act of aggression against any
European neighbour of the Soviet Union, who would offer resistance,
the assistance of the Soviet Government could be counted upon if
desired.”

The underlying meaning of this proposal was that in the event
of an act of aggression on the part of Germany against Latvia, Lithu-
ania, Estonia, or Finland, the Soviet Union would be obliged to render
them assistance, without any commitment on the part of Britain to
come to their aid. In other words, the Soviet Union was to go to war
with Germany single-handed. As to Poland and Rumania, whom
Britain had given guarantees, the Soviet Union was to render assistance
to them too against an aggressor. But even in their case Britain refused
to assume any joint obligation with the Soviet Union, leaving herself
a free hand and a field for any manoeuvre, not to mention the fact that,
according to this proposal, Poland and Rumania, as well as the Baltic
States, were to assume no obligations whatever toward the U.S.S.R.

The Soviet Government, however, did not want to miss a single
opportunity to reach agreement with other powers for joint counter-
action to Hitler aggression. Without the least delay it presented to
the British Government its counter-proposal, which was: first, that
the Soviet Union, Britain and France should mutually undertake to
render one another every immediate assistance, including military, in
the event of aggression against any one of them; secondly, that the
Soviet Union, Britain and France should undertake to render every
assistance, including military, to the states of Eastern Europe situated
between the Baltic and the Black Sea and bordering on the Soviet Union
in the event of aggression against these states; thirdly, that the Soviet
Union, Britain and France should undertake to determine without delay
the extent and forms of military assistance to be rendered to each of
these states in both the above-mentioned cases.

Those were the most important points of the Soviet proposal.
It will be easily seen that there was a fundamental difference between
the Soviet and the British proposals, inasmuch as the Soviet proposal
provided for really effective measures for joint counteraction to ag-
gression.

For three weeks no reply to that proposal came from the British
Government. This caused growing anxiety in Britain, owing to which
the British Government felt constrained in the end to resort to a new
manoeuvre in order to deceive public opinion.
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On May 8, the British reply, or, to be more exact, the British coun-
ter-proposals, were received in Moscow. It was again proposed that
the Soviet Government should make a unilateral declaration in which
it “would undertake that in the event of Great Britain and France being
involved in hostilities in fulfilment of these obligations [to Belgium,
Poland, Rumania, Greece and Turkey] the assistance of the Soviet
Government would be immediately available if desired and be afforded
in such manner and on such terms as might be agreed.”

Once again the Soviet Union was expected to assume unilateral
obligations. It was to commit itself to render assistance to Britain and
France, while they assumed no obligations whatever toward the Soviet
Union with regard to the Baltic Republics. Britain was thus proposing
to put the U.S.S.R. in a position of inequality—a position inacceptable
to and incompatible with the dignity of any independent state.

It was easy to see that the British proposal was really addressed
not so much to Moscow as to Berlin. The Germans were being invited
to attack the Soviet Union, and were given to understand that Britain
and France would remain neutral if only the Germans attacked through
the Baltic States.

On May 11, the negotiations between the Soviet Union, Britain
and France were still further complicated by a statement made by
the Polish Ambassador in Moscow, Grzybowski, to the effect that
“Poland does not regard it possible to conclude a pact of mutual as-
sistance with the US.SR. . . .”

It goes without saying that a statement of this kind could only
have been made by the Polish representative with the knowledge and
approval of the ruling circles of Britain and France.

The behaviour of the British and French representatives in the
Moscow negotiations was so provocative that even in the ruling camp
of the Western Powers there were some who sharply criticized this
crude game. Lloyd George, for one, severely took the makers of British
policy to task in an article published in the French newspaper “Ce Soir”
in the summer of 1939. There was only one reason, he said, for the
endless procrastinations in the Anglo-French negotiations with the Soviet
Union:

“Neville Chamberlain, Halifax and John Simon do not want
any agreement with Russia whatever.”

It stands to reason that what was obvious to Lloyd George was
no less obvious to the bosses of Hitler Germany. They understood
perfectly well that the Western Powers had no serious intention of
reaching agreement with the Soviet Union, but had an entirely different
obiective. It was to induce Hitler to speed his attack on the Soviet
Union, offering him, as it were, 2 premium for doing so by placing
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the Soviet Union in the most unfavourable conditions in the event of a
war with Germany.

Furthermore the Western Powers dragged out the negotiations
with the Soviet Union endlessly, seeking to drown the major issues in
a swamp of minor amendments and variants. Every time the question
of real commitments arose, the representatives of these powers affected
an air of perplexed misunderstanding.

Toward the end of May, Britain advanced fresh proposals, which
somewhat improved their previous variant, but which still left open
the essentially important question for the Soviet Union of guarantees for
the three Baltic Republics bordering on the Soviet Union’s northwestern
frontier.

Thus the rulers of Britain and France, while making certain verbal
concessions under the pressure of public opinion in their countries,
stuck to their previous line and hedged in their proposals with reserva-

tions which they knew would make them inacceptable to the Soviet
Union.

The behaviour of the British and French representatives in the
negotiations in Moscow was so intolerable that V. M. Molotov was con-
strained, on May 27, 1939, to tell British Ambassador Seeds and French
Chargé d’Affaires Payart that their draft agreement for joint counter-
action to an aggressor in Europe contained no plan for the organization
of effective mutual assistance by the U.S.S.R., Britain and France, and
that it did not even indicate that the British and the French Govern-
ments were seriously interested in concluding a pact to this effect
with the Soviet Union. It was further plainly stated that the Anglo-
French proposal created the impression that the Governments of Britain
and France were not so much interested in a pact itself as in talk about
a pact. It was possible that this talk was needed by Britain and France
for purposes of their own. What these purposes were the Soviet Gov-
ernment did not know. The Soviet Government was interested, not
in talk about a pact, but in organizing effective mutual assistance by
the U.S.S.R., Britain and France against aggression in Europe. The
British and French representatives were warned that the Soviet Govern-
ment did not intend to take part in pact talks of the purpose of which
the U.S.S.R. had no knowledge, and that the British and French Gov-
ernments might find more suitable partners for such talks than the

U.S.S.R.

The Moscow negotiations dragged on endlessly. The London
“Times” blurted out the reasons for this inadmissible procrastination
when it wrote: “A hard and fast alliance with Russia would hamper
other negotiations.”* The “Times” was apparently referring to the

* Sayers and Kahn, “The Great Conspiracy: The Secret War Against Soviet
Russia,” Boston, p. 329.
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negotiations which British Minister of Overseas Trade Robert Hudson
was conducting with Hitler’s economic adviser, Dr. Helmut Wohltat,
on the possibility of a very substantial British loan to Hitler Germany,
of which more anon.

Furthermore, it is known that on the day Hitler’s army entered
Prague the press reported that a delegation of the Federation of British
Industries was negotiating in Diisseldorf for the conclusion of an ex-
tensive agreement with German big industry.

Another circumstance that could not help attracting attention
was that, whereas the men who had been sent to Moscow to conduct
the negotiations on behalf of Great Britain were officials of secondary
rank, Chamberlain himself had gone to Germany to negotiate with
Hitler, and moreover on several occasions. It is also important to note
that Strang, the British representative in the negotiations with the
U.S.S.R., had no authority to sign any agreement with the Soviet Union.

In view of the Soviet Union’s insistence that concrete measures to
oppose a possible aggressor be discussed, the Governments of Britain
and France were constrained to agree to dispatch military missions to
Moscow. However, these missions took an extraordinary long time
getting to Moscow, and when they finally arrived it transpired that
they were composed of men of secondary rank, who, furthermore, had
not been authorized to sign any agreement. Under these circumstances,
the military negotiations proved as sterile as the political ones.

The military missions of the Western Powers demonstrated from
the first that they did not even desire seriously to discuss measures
of mutual assistance in the event of German aggression. The Soviet
military mission held that, since the U.S.S.R. had no common border
with Germany, it could render Britain, France and Poland assistance
in the event of war only if Soviet troops were permitted to pass through
Polish territory. The Polish Government, however, declared that it
would not accept military assistance from the Soviet Union, thereby
making it clear that it feared an accession of strength of the Soviet
Union more than Hitler aggression. Poland’s attitude was supported by
both the British and the French missions.

In the course of the military negotiations the question also arose
as to what armed forces the parties to the agreement were to put in
the field immediately in the event of aggression. The British named
a ridiculous figure, stating that they could put in the field five infantry
divisions and one mechanized division. And this the British proposed
at a time when the Soviet Union had declared that it was prepared to
send into action against an aggressor 136 divisions, 5,000 medium and
heavy guns, up to 10,000 tanks and whippets, over 5,000 war planes,
etc. It will be seen from this how unserious was the attitude of the
British Government toward the negotiations for a military agreement

with the U.S.S.R.
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The above-mentioned facts fully confirm the inescapable conclu-
sion:

1. That throughout the negotiations the Soviet Government strove
with the utmost patience to secure agreement with Britain and France
for mutual assistance against an aggressor on a basis of equality and
with the proviso that this mutual assistance would be really effective;
in other words, that the signing of a political agreement would be ac-
companied by the signing of a military convention defining the extent,
forms and time limits of assistance. For all preceding developments
had made it abundantly clear that only such an agreement could be
effective and could bring the Nazi aggressor to his senses, encouraged
as he was by the fact that for many years he had been able to act with
complete impunity and with the connivance of theWestern Powers.

2. That it was fully evident from the behaviour of Britain and
France in the negotiations that they had no thought of any serious
agreement with the U.S.S.R., since British and French policy was pur-
suing other aims, aims which had nothing in common with the interests
of peace and the struggle against aggression.

3. That it was the perfidious purpose of Anglo-French policy to
make it clear to Hitler that the U.S.S.R. had no allies, that it was iso-
lated, and that he could attack the U.S.S.R. without the risk of en-
countering resistance on the part of Britain and France.

In view of this it is not surprising that the Anglo-Franco-Soviet
negotiations ended in failure.

There was, of course, nothing fortuitous about this failure. It
was becoming obvious that the representatives of the Western Powers
had planned the breakdown of the negotiations beforehand, as part of
their double game. The fact was that, parallel with the open negotia-
tions with the U.S.S.R., the British were clandestinely negotiating with
Germany, and that they attached incomparably greater importance to
the latter negotiations.

Whereas the primary purpose of the ruling circles of the Western
Powers in their negotiations in Moscow was to lull public vigilance
in their countries and to deceive the peoples who were being drawn
into war, their negotiations with the Hitlerites were of an entirely
different character.

The program of the Anglo-German negotiations was formulated
plainly enough by British Foreign Secretary Halifax, who was making
unambiguous overtures to Hitler Germany at the very time his sub-
ordinates were negotiating in Moscow. In a speech at a banquet of
the Royal Institute of International Affairs on June 29, 1939, he de-
clared his readiness to come to terms with Germany on all the problems
“that are today causing the world anxiety.” He said:
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“In such a new atmosphere we could examine the colonial
problem, the problem of raw materials, trade barriers, the issue
of Lebensraum, the limitation of armaments, and any other issue
that affects the lives of all European citizens.”*

If we recall how the Conservative “Daily Mail,” which was closely
associated with Halifax, interpreted the problem of Lebensraum as
early as 1933, when it recommended the Hitlerites to wrest Lebensraum
from the U.S.S.R., there can be not the slightest doubt as to what
‘Halifax really meant. It was an open offer to Hitler Germany to
come to terms on a division of the world and spheres of influence, an
offer to settle all questions without the Soviet Union and chiefly at
the expense of the Soviet Union.

In June 1939 British representatives had already inaugurated strict-
ly confidential negotiations with Germany through Hitler’s commis-
sioner for the four-year plan, Wohltat, who was then in London.
He had talks with Minister of Overseas Trade Hudson and Chamber-
lain’s closest adviser, G. Wilson. The substance of those June negotia-
tions is still buried in the secrecy of the diplomatic archives. But in
July Wohltat paid another visit to London and the negotiations were
resumed. The substance of this second round of negotiations is now
known from captured German documents in the possession of the
Soviet Government, which will shortly be made public.

Hudson and Wilson suggested to Wohltat, and later to the German
Ambassador in London, Dirksen, that secret negotiations be started
for a broad agreement, which was to include an agreement for a world-
wide division of spheres of influence and the elimination of “deadly
competition in common markets.” It was envisaged that Germany
would be allowed predominating influence in Southeastern Europe. In
a report to the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs dated July 21, 1939,
Dirksen stated that the program discussed by Wohltat and Wilson com-
prised political, military and economic issues. Among the political
issues, along with a pact of non-aggression, special stress was laid on
a pact of non-intervention, which was to provide for a “delimitation
of Lebensraum between the Great Powers, particularly between Britain
and Germany.”**

During the discussion of the questions involved in these two pacts.
the British representatives promised that if the pacts were signed,
Britain would withdraw the guarantees she had just given Poland.

The British were prepared, if an Anglo-German agreement were
signed, to let the Germans settle the Danzig problem and the problem

* “Speeches on Foreign Policy,” by Viscount Halifax, Oxford University Press,
London, 1940, p. 296.

** “Memorandum of German Ambassador to Britain, Dirksen, July 21, 1939”;
Archives of the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
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of the Polish Corridor with Poland alone, and undertook not to inter-
fere in the settlement.

Further, and this too is documentarily corroborated in the Dirksen
reports shortly to be published, Wilson reaffirmed that if the above-
mentioned pacts between Britain and Germany were signed, Britain
would in fact abandon her policy of guarantees.

“Then Poland would be left, so to speak, alone, face to face
with Germany,” Dirksen comments in his report.

All this signified that, at a time when the ink with which Britain
signed her guarantees to Poland had not yet dried, the rulers of Britain
were prepared to surrender Poland to Hitler.

Furthermore, if the Anglo-German agreement had been concluded,
the purpose which Britain and France had set themselves in starting
the negotiations with the Soviet Union would have been achieved, and
the possibility of expediting a clash between Germany and the U.S.S.R.
would have been further facilitated.

Lastly, it was proposed to supplement the political agreement be-
tween Britain and Germany with an economic agreement, which was
to include a secret deal on colonial questions, for the partition of raw
materials and the division of markets, as well as for a big British loan
to Germany.

The rulers of Britain were thus lured by the seductive picture of
a firm agreement with Germany and the “canalization” of German
aggression toward the East, against Poland, whom they had only just
“guaranteed,” and against the Soviet Union.

Is it then to be wondered that the slanderers and falsifiers of
history are so careful to hush up and conceal these facts, which are
of paramount importance to an understanding of the circumstances
by virtue of which war was becoming inevitable?

By this time there could already be no doubt that Britain and
France, far from seriously intending to undertake anything to prevent
Hitler Germany from starting war, were doing everything in their power,
by secret deals and agreements and by every possible artifice, to incite
Hitler Germany against the Soviet Union.

No counterfeiters can expunge from history or from the minds
of the peoples the overriding fact that under these circumstances the
Soviet Union was faced with the alternative:

Either, in its self-defence, to accept Germany’s proposal for a
pact of non-aggression, and thereby ensure the Soviet Union pro-
longation of peace for a certain period, which might be utilized to
better prepare the forces of the Soviet State for resistance to eventual
aggression;
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Or to reject Germany’s proposal for a non-aggression pact, and
thereby allow the provocators of war in the camp of the Western
Powers to embroil the Soviet Union immediately in an armed conflict
with Germany, at a time when the situation was utterly unfavourable
to the Soviet Union, seeing that it would be completely isolated.

Under these circumstances, the Soviet Government was compelled
to make its choice and conclude a non-aggression pact with Germany.

In the situation that had arisen this choice on the part of Soviet
foreign policy was a wise and farsighted act. This step of the Soviet
Government to a very large degree predetermined the favourable out-
come of the second world war for the Soviet Union and all the freedom-
loving peoples. '

To assert that the conclusion of the pact with the Hitlerites formed
part of the plan of Soviet foreign policy is a gross calumny. On the
contrary, all the time the U.S.S.R. strove to secure an agreement with
the Western non-aggressive states for the achievement of collective
security, on a basis of equality, against the German and Italian aggres-
sors. But there must be two parties to an agreement. And, whereas
the U.S.S.R. insistently urged an agreement for combating aggression,
Britain and France systematically rejected it, preferring to pursue a
policy of isolating the U.S.S.R., of conceding to the aggressors, of
directing aggression toward the East, against the U.S.S.R.. The United
States of America, far from counteracting this fatal policy, backed it
in every way. As to the American billionaires, they went on investing
their capital in German heavy industry, helping the Germans to ex-
pand their war industries and thus supplying the arms for German
aggression. It was as good as saying: “Go on, you Europeans, fight
to your heart’s content, and God be with you! Meanwhile we modest
American billionaires will make fortunes out of your war by raking
in hundreds of millions of dollars in superprofits.”

This being the state of affairs in Europe, the Soviet Union had
naturally only one choice, which was to accept the German proposal
for a pact. After all, it was the best of all available alternatives.

Just as in 1918, when, owing to the hostile policy of the Western
Powers, the Soviet Union was forced to conclude the Peace of Brest-
Litovsk with the Germans, so in 1939, twenty years after the Peace
of Brest-Litovsk, the Soviet Union was compelled to conclude a pact
with the Germans owing again to the hostile policy of Britain and
France.

The slanderous claptrap that all the same the U.S.S.R. should not
have agreed to conclude a pact with the Germans can only be regarded
as ridiculous. Why was it right for Poland, who had Britain and
France as allies, to conclude a non-aggression pact with the Germans
in 1934, and not right for the Soviet Union, which was in a less favour-
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able situation, to conclude a similar pact in 1939? Why was it right
for Britain and France, who were the dominant force in Europe, to
issue a joint declaration of non-aggression with the Germans in 1938,
and not right for the Soviet Union, isolated as it was because of the
hostile policy of Britain and France, to conclude a pact with the
Germans?

Is it not a fact that of all the non-aggressive Great Powers in
Europe, the Soviet Union was the last to agree to a pact with the
Germans?

Of course, the falsifiers of history and similar reactionaries are
displeased with the fact that the Soviet Union was able to make good
use of the Soviet-German pact to strengthen its defences; that it suc-
ceeded in shifting its frontiers far to the West and thus putting up
a barrier to the unhampered eastward advance of German aggression;
that Hitler’s troops had to begin their Eastern offensive, not from the
Narva-Minsk-Kiev line, but from a line hundreds of kilometres farther
West; that the U.S.S.R. was not bled to death in its Patriotic War but
emerged from the war victorious. But this displeasure can only be
regarded as 2 manifestation of the impotent rage of bankrupt politicians.

The vicious displeasure of these gentlemen only serves to bear out
the indubitable fact that the policy of the Soviet Union was and is a
correct policy.
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IV. Creation of an “Eastern” Fronmt,
Germany's Attack Upon the U.S.SR.,
the Anti-Hitler Coalition and the
Question of Inter-Allied Obligations

WHEN concluding the pact of non-aggression with Germany in
August 1939, the Soviet Union did not doubt for a moment that
sooner or later Hitler would attack it. This certainty was based on the
fundamental political and military line of the Hitlerites. It was borne
out by the practical activities of the Hitler government throughout the
pre-war period.

That was why the first task of the Soviet Government was to
create an “Eastern” front against Hitler aggression, to build up a de-
fence line along the western frontiers of the Byelorussian and Ukrainian
territories and thus set up a barrier to prevent an unhindered advance
of the German troops eastward. For this it was necessary to re-unite
Western Byelorussia and the Western Ukraine, which the Poland of
the gentry had seized in 1920, with Soviet Byelorussia and the Soviet
Ukraine, and to move Soviet troops into these territories. This matter
brooked no delay, as the poorly supplied Polish troops were unstable,
the Polish command and the Polish Government were already in flight,
and Hitler’s troops, meeting no serious obstacle, might occupy the
Byelorussian and Ukrainian territories before Soviet troops arrived.

On September 17, 1939, the Soviet troops, at the order of the
Soviet Government, crossed the pre-war Soviet-Polish border, occupied
Western Byelorussia and the Western Ukraine and proceeded to build
defences along the western line of the Ukrainian and Byelorussian ter-
ritories. ‘This was, in the main, what was known as the “Curzon Line,”
which had been established by the Allies at the Versailles Conference.

A few days later the Soviet Government signed pacts of mutual
assistance with the Baltic States, providing for the stationing of Soviet
Army garrisons, the organization of Soviet airfields and the establish-
ment of naval bases on the territories of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.

In this way the foundation was laid for an “Eastern” front.

It was not hard to see that the creation of an “Eastern” front was
an important contribution not only to the organization of the security
of the U.S.S.R., but to the common cause of the peace-loving states
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that were fighting aggression. Nevertheless, the answer of Anglo-
Franco-American circles, in their overwhelming majority, to this step
of the Soviet Government was to start a malicious anti-Soviet campaign,
qualifying the Soviet action as aggression.

There were, however, some political leaders sufficiently discerning
to understand the meaning of the Soviet policy and to admit that it
was the right thing to create an “Eastern” front. First among them
was Mr. Churchill, then First Lord of the Admiralty, who in a radio
speech on October 1, 1939, after a number of unfriendly sallies against
the Soviet Union, stated:

“That the Russian armies should stand on this line was clearly
necessary for the safety of Russia against the Nazi menace. At
any rate, the line is there, and an Eastern front has been created
which Nazi Germany does not dare assail. When Herr von Ribben-
trop was summoned to Moscow last week, it was to learn the fact,
that the Nazi designs upon the Baltic States and upon the Ukraine
must come to a dead stop.”

While the situation with regard to the security of the U.S.S.R.
was more or less satisfactory on the western frontiers, at a considerable
distance from Moscow, Minsk and Kiev, this could not be said of its
northern frontier. Here, at a distance of some thirty-two kilometres
from Leningrad stood Finnish troops, the majority of whose command-
ing officers leaned toward Hitler Germany. The Soviet Government
was well aware that fascist elements among the ruling circles of Finland
closely connected with the Hitlerites and wielding strong influence in
the Finnish army, were anxious to seize Leningrad. The fact that Hal-
der, Chief of the General Staff of Hitler’s army, had arrived in Finland
in the summer of 1939 to instruct top leaders of the Finnish army
could not be dismissed as accidental. There could hardly be any doubt
that Finland’s leading circles were in league with the Hitlerites, that
they wanted to turn Finland into a springboard of attack by Hitler
Germany upon the US.S.R.

It is therefore not surprising that all the attempts of the U.S.S.R.
to find a common language with the Finnish Government with a view
to improving relations between the two countries proved unsuccessful.

The Government of Finland declined, one after another, all the
friendly proposals made by the Soviet Government with the object
of safeguarding the security of the U.S.S.R., particularly of Leningrad,
and this in spite of the fact that the Soviet Union was willing to go
out to meet Finland and satisfy her legitimate interests.

The Finnish Government declined the proposal of the U.S.S.R. to
shift back the Finnish border on the Karelian Isthmus a few dozen
kilometres, although the Soviet Government was willing to compensate
Finland with an area twice as large in Soviet Karelia.
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The Finnish Government also declined the proposal of the U.S.S.R.
to conclude a pact of mutual assistance, thereby making it clear that
the security of the U.S.S.R. from the direction of Finland was not
safeguarded.

By these and similar hostile acts and by provocative actions on the
Soviet-Finnish border, Finland unleashed the war with the Soviet Union.

The results of the Soviet-Finnish war are known. The frontiers
of the U.S.S.R. in the northwest, and particularly in the Leningrad
area, were shifted"farther back, and the security of the U.S.S.R. was
strengthened. This was an important factor in the defence of the
Soviet Union against Hitler aggression, inasmuch as Hitler Germany
and her Finnish accomplices had to begin their offensive in the north-
west of the U.S.S.R. not in immediate proximity to Leningrad, but
from a line nearly 150 kilometres to the northwest of it.

In his speech at the session of the Supreme Soviet of the U.S.S.R.
on March 29, 1940, V. M. Molotov said:

“. . . The Soviet Union, having smashed the Finnish army,
and having had every opportunity of occupying the whole of Fin-
land, did not do so and did not demand any indemnities for its
war expenditure as any other Power would have done, but con-
fined its demands to a minimum. . . .”

“We pursued no other object in the Peace Treaty than that
of safeguarding the security of Leningrad, Murmansk, and the
Murmansk railway.”

It should be noted that, although in their whole policy toward
the U.S.S.R. Finland’s ruling circles were playing the game of Hitler
Germany, the British and French bosses of the League of Nations im-
mediately took the side of the Finnish Government, declared through
the League that the U.S.S.R. was the “aggressor,” and thereby openly
approved and supported the war which the Finnish rulers had started
against the Soviet Union. The League of Nations—which had be-
smirched itself by its connivance at and encouragement of Japanese
and German-Italian aggression—acting at the bidding of its British
and French bosses, obediently passed a resolution against the Soviet
Union and demonstratively “expelled” the latter from the League.

But matters did not end there. In the war started by the Finnish
reactionaries against the Soviet Union, Britain and France rendered
every assistance to the Finnish militarists. British and French ruling
circles kept inciting the Finnsh Government to continue hostilities.

The British and French rulers systematically supplied Finland with
arms and made energetic preparations to dispatch to Finland an ex-
peditionary corps of a hundred thousand men.

In the first three months of the war, Britain, according to a state-
ment made by Chamberlain in the House of Commons on March 19,
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1940, delivered to Finland 101 aircraft, over 200 artillery pieces, and
hundreds of thousands of shells, aerial bombs and anti-tank mines. At
the same time Daladier reported to the Chamber of Deputies that France
had given Finland 175 aircraft, about 500 artillery pieces, over 5,000
machine guns, 1,000,000 shells and hand grenades and various other
munitions.

An exhaustive idea of the plans of the British and French Govern-
ments at that time may be obtained from a memorandum handed by
the British to the Swedes on March 2, 1940, which read:

“The Allied Governments understand that the military posi-
tion of Finland is becoming desperate. After carefully considering
all the possibilities they have reached the conclusion that the only
means by which they can render effective help to Finland is by
the dispatch of an Allied force, and they are prepared to send such
a force in response to a Finnish appeal.”*

Meanwhile, as Chamberlain stated in the House of Commons on
March 19,

“preparations for the expedition were carried on with all rapidity,
and at the beginning of March the expedition was ready to leave
. . . two months before Mannerheim had asked for it to arrive.”
Chamberlain added that this force numbered 100,000 men.

At the same time the French Government was preparing a first
expeditionary corps of 50,000 men, which was to be sent to Finland
via Narvik.

The British and French rulers, be it remarked, were engaging in
these belligerent activities at the time of the “phoney war,” when Britain
and France were absolutely inactive on the front against Hitler Ger-
many.

But military assistance to Finland against the Soviet Union was
only part of a broader scheme of the British and French imperialists.

The above-quoted White Paper of the Swedish Ministry of Foreign
Affairs contains a document penned by Swedish Foreign Minister
Giinther. In this document we read that

“the dispatch of this force is part of the general plan of an attack
upon the Soviet Union” and that, “beginning March 15, this plan
will be put into effect against Baku and still earlier through Fin-
land.”**

* “Note of the British Legation, dated March 2, 1940”; White Paper of the
Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Stockholm, 1947, p. 120.

** “Giinther’s notes, March 2, 1940”; White Paper of the Swedish Ministry of
Foreign Affairs, Stockhold, 1947, p. 119,

53



Henri de Kerillis, in his book, “De Gaulle dictateur,” wrote the
following about this plan:

“According to this plan, the main features of which were
explained to me by Paul Reynaud* in a letter, which is in my
possession, the motorized expeditionary corps, after landing in
Finland through Norway, would quickly disperse Russia’s dis-
organized hordes and march on Leningrad. . . .”**

This plan was drawn up in France by de Gaulle and General Wey-
gand who was then in command of the French troops in Syria and who
boasted that

“with certain reinforcements and 200 aircraft he would seize the

Caucasus and enter into Russia as a knife cuts butter.”

It is also known that in 1940 the French General Gamelin worked
out a plan of military operations by the British and French against the
U.S.S.R., in which special stress was laid on bombing Baku and Batumi.

The preparations of the British and French rulers for an attack
upon the U.S.S.R. were in full blast. The General Staffs of Britain
and France were working diligently on the plans for the attack. These
gentry, instead of waging the war against Hitler Germany, wanted to
start war against the Soviet Union.

But those plans were not fated to materialize. Finland was de-
feated by the Soviet troops and forced to surrender, in spite of all the
efforts of Britain and France to prevent her capitulation.

On March 12, 1940, the Soviet-Finnish Peace Treaty was signed.

Thus the defence of the U.S.S.R. against Hitler aggression was
strengthened also in the north, in the Leningrad area, where the defence
line was shifted to a distance of 150 kilometres north of Leningrad up
to and including Viborg.

But this did not vet mean that the formation of an “Eastern”
front from the Baltic to the Black Sea had been completed. Pacts had
been concluded with the Baltic States, but there were as yet no Soviet
troops there capable of holding the defences. Moldavia and Bukovina
had formally been re-united with the U.S.S.R., but there were no
Soviet troops capable of holding the defences there either. In the
middle of June 1940 Soviet troops entered Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.
On June 27, Soviet troops entered Bukovina and Moldavia, the latter
of which had been severed by Rumania from the U.S.S.R. after the
October Revolution.

In this way the formation of an “Eastern” front against Hitler
aggression from the Baltic to the Black Sea was completed.

* Then a member of the French Government.
** Henri de Kerillis, “De Gaulle dictateur,” Montreal, 1945, pp. 363-364.
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The British and French ruling circles, who continued to abuse the
U.S.S.R. and call it an aggressor for creating an “Eastern” front, evi-
dently did not realize that the appearance of an “Eastern” front signi-
fied a radical turn in the development of the war—to the disfavour
of Hitler tyranny and to the favour of the victory of democracy.

They did not realize that it was not a question of infringing or
not infringing upon the national rights of Finland, Lithuania, Latvia,
Estonia, or Poland, but of preventing the conversion of those countries
into downtrodden colonies of Hitler Germany by organizing victory
over the Nazis.

They did not realize that the point was to build up a barrier against
the advance of the German troops in all areas where that was possible,
to organize a strong defence and then to launch a counter-offensive,
smash Hitler’s armies and thereby create the conditions for the free
development of those countries.

They did not realize that there was no other way to defeat Hitler
aggression.

Was the British Government right when it stationed its troops in
Egypt during the war, in spite of Egyptian protest and even resistance
on the part of certain elements in Egypt? Unquestionably, it was right.
That was a highly important means of barring the way to Hitler ag-
gression in the direction of the Suez Canal, of safeguarding Egypt from
attack by Hitler, of organizing victory over him and thus preventing
the conversion of Egypt into a colony of Hitler Germany. Only en-
emies of democracy or people who have lost their senses can assert that
the action of the British Government in that case constituted aggression.

Was the United States Government right when it landed its troops
at Casablanca, in spite of the protests of the Moroccans and direct mili-
tary resistance on the part of the Pétain Government of France, whose
authority extended to Morocco? Unquestionably, it was right. That
was a highly effective means of creating a base of counteraction to
German aggression in immediate proximity to Western Europe, of or-
ganizing victory over Hitler’s armies and thus making it possible to
liberate France from Nazi colonial oppression. Only enemies of de-
mocracy or people who have lost their senses can regard these actions
of the American troops as aggression.

But, then, the same must be said of the actions of the Soviet Gov-
ernment in organizing, by the summer of 1940, an “Eastern” front
against Hitler aggression and stationing its troops as far to the west
as possible from Leningrad, Moscow and Kiev. That was the only
means of preventing an unhindered advance of the German armies
eastward, of building up strong defences, and then launching a counter-
offensive in order, jointly with the Allies, to smash Hitler’s army and
thereby prevent the conversion of the peace-loving countries of Europe,
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including Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland, into colonies
of Hitler Germany. Only enemies of democracy or people who had
lost their senses could qualify these actions of the Soviet Government
as aggression.

But it follows from this that Chamberlain, Daladier and their
entourage, who did qualify this policy of the Soviet Government as
aggression and engineered the expulsion of the Soviet Union from the
League of Nations, acted as enemies of democracy or as people who
had lost their senses.

From this it follows, further, that the present-day slanderers and
falsifiers of history who work in company with Messrs. Bevin and
Bidault and qualify the creation of the “Eastern” front against Hitler
as aggression, are also acting as enemies of democracy or as people who
have lost their senses.

What would have happened if the U.S.S.R. had not, before Ger-
many attacked it, created an “Eastern” front far to the west of the
old Soviet frontiers, if that front had not followed the line Viborg-
Kaunas-Byelostok-Brest-Lvov, but the old frontier—Leningrad-Narva-
Minsk-Kiev?

That would have enabled Hitler’s forces to win a stretch of terri-
tory hundreds of kilometres deep and would have brought the German
front some two to three hundred kilometres nearer to Leningrad-Mos-
cow-Minsk-Kiev. It would have greatly accelerated the Germans® ad-
vance into the interior of the U.S.S.R., hastened the fall of Kiev and
the Ukraine, led to the capture of Moscow by the Germans and of
Leningrad by the combined German and Finnish forces, and would
have compelled the U.S.S.R. to pass to the defensive for a long time,
thus making it possible for the Germans to release some fifty divisions
in the East for a landing on the British Isles and for reinforcing the
German-Italian front in the Egypt area. Quite likely the British Gov-
ernment would then have had to evacuate to Canada, while Egypt and
the Suez Canal would have fallen under Hitler’s sway.

Nor is that all. The US.S.R. would have been compelled to
transfer a large part of its troops from the Manchurian border to
strengthen its defences on the “Eastern” font, and that would have
enabled the Japanese to release some thirty divisions in Manchuria and
send them against China, the Philippines and Southeastern Asia in gen-
eral, and, in the final analysis, against the American armed forces in

the Far East.

As a result of all this the war would have been prolonged for at
least two years more. The second world war would then have ended
not in 1945, but in 1947, or somewhat later.

That was how matters stood with regard to the “Eastern” front.
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Meanwhile events in the West were taking their course. In April
1940, the Germans occupied Denmark and Norway. In the middle of
May, German troops invaded Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg. On
May 21, the Germans reached the Channel and cut off the Allies in
Flanders. Toward the end of May the British troops evacuated Dun-
kirk, withdrawing from France to England. In the middle of June,
Paris fell. On June 22 France surrendered to Germany.

In a word, Hitler trampled on all and every declaration of non-
aggression issued jointly with France and Britain.

This meant the complete bankruptcy of the policy of appeasement,
the policy of renouncing collective security, the policy of isolating the
USS.R.

It became clear that, by isolating the U.S.S.R., France and Britain
had smashed the united front of the freedom-loving countries, weak-
ened themselves, and were now themselves isolated.

On March 1, 1941, the Germans occupied Bulgaria.

On April 5, the U.S.S.R. signed a pact of non-aggression with
Yugoslavia.

On June 22 of that year Germany attacked the U.S.S.R.

Italy, Rumania, Hungary and Finland joined Germany in the war
against the Soviet Union.

The Soviet Union entered the war of liberation against Hitler
Germany.

The attitude toward this event in Europe and America varied in
different circles.

The nations enslaved by Hitler breathed a sigh of relief, convinced
that Hitler would break his neck between the two fronts, the Western
and the “Eastern.”

The ruling circles of France were full of malicious glee, as they
did not doubt that “Russia would be smashed” in practically no time.

A prominent member of the U.S. Senate, Mr. Truman, now Presi-
dent of the United States, stated the day after Germany’s attack upon
the U.S.S.R.:

“If we see that Germany is winning we ought to help Russia
and if Russia is winning we ought to help Germany and that way
let them kill as many as possible.”*

A similar statement was made in 1941 in Great Britain by the then
Minister of Aircraft Production, Moore-Brabazon, who said that as
far as Britain was concerned, the best outcome of the struggle on the

* “New York Times,” June 24, 1941.
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Eastern front would be the mutual exhaustion of Germany and the
U.S.S.R., as a consequence of which Britain would be able to attain a
position of dominance.

These statements undoubtedly voiced the attitude of the reaction-
ary circles in the U.S.A. and Great Britain.

However, the overwhelming majority of the British and American
people were favourably disposed toward the U.S.S.R. and demanded
unity with the Soviet Union for a successful struggle against Hitler
Germany.

It may be taken that the.Prime Minister of Great Britain, Mr.
Churchill, reflected these sentiments when he said on June 22, 1941:

“The Russian danger is our danger, and the danger of the

United States, just as the cause of any Russian fighting for his

hearth and home is the cause of free men and free peoples in every

quarter of the globe. . ..”

This too was the attitude toward the U.S.S.R. of the Roosevelt
administration in the U.S.A.

A beginning was thus laid for the Anglo-Soviet-American coali-
tion against Hitler Germany.

The anti-Hitler coalition set itself the aim of smashing the Hitler
regime and liberating the nations enslaved by Hitler Germany. Despite
differences in the ideologies and economic systems of the Allied states,
the Anglo-Soviet-American coalition became 2 mighty alliance of na-
tions who had united their efforts in the liberation struggle against
Hitlerism.

Of course there were differences among the Allies on certain ques-
tions even then, during the war. It is well known, for example, how
significant were the differences on such major questions as the opening
of a second front, the duties of allies, their moral obligation toward
each other.

The falsifiers of history and calumniators of every description are
now seizing on these differences to “prove,” contrary to obvious fact,
that the U.S.S.R. was not, and could not be, a loyal and sincere ally
in the struggle against Hitler aggression. But since the joint struggle
against Hitler Germany and the behaviour of the U.S.S.R. in that strug-
gle provide no warrant for such accusations, they turn to the past, to
the pre-war period, and assert that in the “negotiations” with Hitler
in Berlin in 1940, the representatives of the Soviet Union behaved per-
fidiously, not as allies should behave.

The assert that during the Berlin “negotiations” perfidious “plans
for partitioning Europe,” Soviet territorial claims “southward from
the Soviet Union towards the Indian Ocean,” “plans” concerning Tur-
key, Iran, Bulgaria and other “problems” were discussed and agreed
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upon. For this purpose the calumniators make use of reports of German
ambassadors and other Nazi officials, all sorts of memoranda and Ger-
man drafts of “protocols,” and “documents” of a similar nature.

What did actually take place in Berlin? It must be said that the
so-called “Berlin negotiations” of 1940 actually represented nothing
more than a return visit of V. M. Molotov to two visits paid by Ribben-
trop to Moscow. The talks chiefly concerned Soviet-German relations.
Hitler tried to make them the basis for a broad agreement between the
German and Soviet parties. The Soviet side, on the contrary, used
them to sound out, to probe the position of the German side without
having any intention of concluding an agreement of any kind with the
Germans. In the course of these talks Hitler maintained that the Soviet
Union ought to acquire an outlet to the Persian Gulf by occupying
Western Iran and the British oil fields in Iran. He further said that
Germany could help the Soviet Union to settle its claims against Tur-
key, even to the amendment of the Montreux Treaty on the Straits.
While he completely ignored the intersts of Iran, he carefully protected
the interests of Turkey, obviously regarding the latter as his present,
or at any rate, future ally. The Balkan countries and Turkey Hitler
regarded as a sphere of influence of Germany and Italy.

The Soviet Government drew the following conclusions from
these talks: Germany did not value her connections with Iran; Germany
was not bound and did not intend to bind herself with Britain, which
meant that the Soviet Union might find a reliable ally in Britain against
Hitler Germany; the Balkan States had either been already bought over
and converted into Germany’s satellites (Bulgaria, Rumania, Hungary),
or had been enslaved, like Czechoslovakia, or were on the way to being
enslaved, like Greece; Yugoslavia was the only Balkan country that
could be relied on as a future ally of the anti-Hitler camp; Turkey was
already either bound by close ties to Hitler Germany or intended to
form such ties.

Having drawn these useful conclusions the Soviet Government
never again resumed the talks on these questions, despite Ribbentrop’s
repeated reminders.

As will be seen, this was a sounding out, 2 probing by.the Soviet
Government of the position of the Hitler government, which did not
lead, and could not lead to an agreement of any kind.

Is such a sounding of an enemy’s position by peace-loving states
permissible? Unquestionably, it is. It is not only permissible but at
times a direct political necessity. With the proviso, however, that such
soundings must be undertaken with the knowledge and consent of
one’s allies and their results must be communicated to one’s allies. At
that time, however, the Soviet Union had no allies, it was isolated and,
unfortunately, had nobody with whom to share the results of its
soundings.
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It should be noted that a similar, although very dubious, sounding
of the position of Hitler Germany was undertaken by representatives
of Britain and the United States already during the war, after the
formation of the anti-Hitler coalition of Britain, the United States and
the U.S.S.R. This is evident from documents captured by Soviet troops
in Germany.

From these documents it can be seen that in the autumn of 1941,
and also in 1942 and 1943, in Lisbon and in Switzerland, negotiations
were carried on behind the back of the U.S.S.R. between representatives
of Britain and Germany, and later between representatives of the United
States and Germany, on the subject of concluding peace with Germany.

One of the documents—a supplement to a report by Weizsicker,
the German deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs—reviews the course of
the negotiations in Lisbon in September 1941. This document shows
that on September 13, a meeting took place between Aitken, son of
Lord Beaverbrook, an officer of the British army and later 2 Member
of Parliament, representing Britain, and Gustav von Koever, a2 Hun-
garian acting on the authority of the German Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, as can be gathered from a letter addressed by Krauel, German
Consul General in Geneva, to Weizsicker.

In the course of these negotiations Aitken bluntly put the ques-
tion: “Could not the coming winter and spring be utilized for a con-
fidential discussion of the possibility of peace?”

Other documents tell of negotiations which took place between
representatives of the Governments of th U.S.A. and Germany in
Switzerland in February 1943. In these negotiations the U.S.A. was
represented by a special delegate of the United States Government,
Allen Dulles (bother of John Foster Dulles), who figured under the
pseudonym “Bull” and had “direct instructions and authority from the
White House.” His partner on the German side was Prince M. Hohen-
lohe, a man closely connected with the ruling circles of Hitler Germany,
who acted as Hitler’s representative under the assumed name of “Pauls.”
The document containing a summary of these negotiations belonged
to the German Security Service (S.D.).

As is evident from this document, the conversation touched on
important questions relating to Austria, Czechoslovakia, Poland, Ru-
mania and Hungary and, which is especially important, to the con-
clusion of peace with Germany.

In the course of the conversation A. Dulles (Bull) stated that

“In future, a situation will never again be permitted to arise
where nations like the German would be compelled to resort to
desperate experiments and heroism as a result of injustice and want.

The German state must continue to exist as a factor of order and

rehabilitation. The partition of Germany or the separation of

Austria is out of the question.”

Concerning Poland, Dulles (Bull) stated:
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‘. . . by extending Poland to the East and preserving Rumania
and a strong Hungary the establishment of a cordon sanitaire
against Bolshevism and Pan-Slavism must be supported.”*

The record of the conversation further says that:

“Mr. Bull more or less agrees to the political and industrial
organization of Europe on the basis of large territories, on the
assumption that a federated Greater Germany (similar to the
U.S.A.), with the adjoining Danubian Confederation, will con-
stitute the best guarantee of order and rehabilitation in Central
and Eastern Europe.”**

Dulles (Bull) also stated that he fully recognized the claim of
German industry to the leading role in Europe.

It must be noted that this sounding was effected by the British
and Americans without the knowledge or consent of their ally, the
Soviet Union, and that nothing was communicated to the Soviet Gov-
ernment concerning the results of it, even by way of post factum
information.

This might warrant the assumption that the Governments of the
U.S.A. and Great Britain had in this instance made an attempt to in-
augurate negotiations with Hitler for a separate peace.

Clearly, such behaviour on the part of the Governments of Britain
and the U.S.A. can only be regarded as an infringement of the most
elementary duties and obligations of allies.

It therefore follows that when the falsifiers of history accuse the
U.S.S.R. of “insincerity” they are shifting the blame from the guilty
to the innocent.

There can be no doubt that the falsifiers of history and the other
calumniators know of these documents. And if they conceal them
from the public, if they say nothing about them in their slander cam-
paign against the U.S.S.R,, it is because they are mortally afraid of the
historical truth.

As regards the differences concerning the opening of a second
front, they were a reflection of the different conceptions as to the duties
of allies toward each other. Soviet people believe that if an ally is in
trouble one should help him out by all available means, that one should
not treat an ally as a temporary fellow traveller but as a friend, should
rejoice in his successes and in his growing strength. British and Ameri-
can representatives do not agree with this and regard these ethics as
naive. They are guided by the notion that a strong ally is dangerous,
that the strengthening of an ally is not in their interests, that it is
better to have a weak ally than a strong one, and if the ally, neverthe-
less, grows stronger, then measures should be taken to weaken him.

Everybody knows that in the Anglo-Soviet and the Soviet-Ameri-
can communiqués of June 1942, the British and Americans assumed

# *“The Conversation Pauls—Mr. Bull”; from documents of the German Archives.
** Thid.
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the obligation to open the second front in Europe as early as 1942.
This was a solemn promise, a vow, if you will, which should have been
fulfilled in time, in order to make things easier for the Soviet forces,
who in the first period of the war had borne the entire burden of re-
sistance to Geman fascism. However, it is also known that this promise
was not fulfilled either in 1942 or in 1943, despite the fact that the
Soviet Government had declared on several occasions that the Soviet
Union could not reconcile itself to the postponement of the second
front.

There was nothing fortuitous about the delay in opening the sec-
ond front. It was a policy fostered by the aspirations of those reac-
tionary circles in Britain and the U.S.A. who were pursuing their own
aims in the war against Germany, aims that were entirely alien to a
war of liberation from German fascism. Their plans did not call for
the utter defeat of German fascism. They were interested in under-
mining Germany’s power and, mainly, in eliminating Germany as a
dangerous rival in the world market, in conformity with their narrow,
selfish aims. But it did not come within their intention to liberate
Germany and other countries from the rule of the reactionary forces,
which are constant vehicles of imperialist aggression and of fascism,
or to carry out radical democratic reforms.

At the same time they were calculating that the U.S.S.R. would
be weakened, bled white, that it would be so exhausted in the war that
it would for a long time lose the status of a great and mighty power,
and that after the war it would fall into dependence on the United
States of America and Great Britain.

Naturally, this is not an attitude toward an ally which the Soviet
Union can regard as normal.

Diametrically opposite to this policy is the Soviet Union’s policy
of inter-allied relations. This policy is characterized by unswerving
disinterestedness, consistent and honest observance of undertakings, and
by readiness at all times to render assistance to an ally. This attitude
of a genuine ally toward other countries, its comrades-in-arms in the
struggle against a common enemy, was exemplified by the Soviet Union
in the last war.

Here is one instance.

It will be remembered that at the end of December 1944 Hitler’s
troops launched an oftensive on the Western front in the Ardennes,
pierced the front, and placed the Anglo-American troops in a difficult
situation. According to the Allies, the Germans hoped, by striking at
Liége, to crush the American First Army, reach Antwerp, cut off the
American Ninth, the British Second and Canadian First Armies, and
arrange a second Dunkirk for the Allies, with the idea of putting
Britain out of the war.

In connection with this, on January 6, 1945, Winston Churchill
addressed to J. V. Stalin the following message:
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“The battle in the West is very heavy and, at any time, large
decisions may be calied for from the Supreme Command. You
know yourself from your own experience how very anxious the
position is when a very broad front has to be defended after tem-
porary loss of the initiative. It is General Eisenhower’s great
desire and need to know in outline what you plan to do, as this
obviously affects all his and our major decisions. Our envoy, Air
Chief Marshal Tedder, was last night reported weather-bound in
Cairo. His journey has been much delayed through no fault of
yours. In case he has not reached you yet, I shall be grateful if
you can tell me whether we can count on a major Russian offensive
on the Vistula front, or elsewhere, during January, with any
other points you may care to mention. I shall not pass this most
secret information to anyone except Field Marshall Brooke and
General Eisenhower, and only under conditions of the utmost
secrecy. I regard the matter as urgent.”

On January 7, 1945,.J. V. Stalin sent Winston Churchill the fol-
lowing answer:

“I received your message of January 6, 1945, on the evening
of January 7.

“Unfortunately, Air Chief Marshal Tedder has not yet reached
Moscow.

“It is very important to make use of our superiority over
the Germans in artillery and air force. For this we need clear
weather for the air force and an absence of low mists which pre-
vent aimed fire by the artillery. We are preparing an offensive,
but at present the weather does not favour our offensive. How-
ever, in view of the position of our Allies on the Western front,
Headquarters of the Supreme Command has decided to complete
the preparations at a forced pace and, regardless of the weather, to
launch wide-scale offensive operations against the Germans all
along the Central front not later than the second half of January.
You need not doubt but that we shall do everything that can
possibly be done to render help to the glorious troops of our Allies.”

In his reply message to J. V. Stalin on January 9, Winston Churchill
wrote:

“I am most grateful to you for your thrilling message. I have
sent it over to General Eisenhower for his eye only. May all good
fortune rest upon your noble venture.”

In its desire to expedite aid to the Allied forces in the West, the
Supreme Command of the Soviet forces decided to advance the date
of the offensive against the Germans on the Soviet-German front from
January 20 to January 12. On January 12, a big Soviet offensive was
launched on a wide front stretching from the Baltic to the Carpathians.
One hundred and fifty Soviet divisions were sent into action, supported
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by large quantities of artillery and aircraft; they broke through the
German front and threw the Germans back hundreds of kilometres.

On January 12, the German troops on the Western front, amongst
them the Sth and 6th Panzer Armies, which were poised for another
drive, ceased their offensive and in the following five or six days were
withdrawn from the front and transferred to the East, against the
attacking Soviet troops. The German offensive in the West was
thwarted.

On January 17, Winston Churchill wrote to J. V. Stalin:

“I am most grateful to you for your message and am extreme-
ly glad that Air Marshal Tedder made so favourable an impression
upon you. On behalf of His Majesty’s Government, and from
the bottom of my heart, I offer you our thanks and congratula-
tions on the immense assault you have launched upon the Eastern
front.

“You will now, no doubt, know the plans of General Eisen-
hower and to what extent they have been delayed by Rundstedt’s
spoiling attack. I am sure that fighting along our whole front will
be continuous. The British 21st Army Group under Field Marshal
Montgomery have today begun an attack in the area south of
Roermond.”

An order of the Day issued by J. V. Stalin to the Soviet troops
in February 1945 said in reference to this Soviet offensive:

“In January of this year, the Red Army brought down upon
the enemy a blow of unparalleled force along the entire front from
the Baltic to the Carpathians. On a stretch of 1,200 kilometres
it broke up the powerful defences which the Germans had been
building for a number of years. In the course of the offensive,
the Red Army by its swift and skilful actions has hurled the
enemy far back to the west.

“The first consequence of the successes of our winter offensive
was that they thwarted the Germans’ winter offensive in the West,
which aimed at the seizure of Belgium and Alsace, and enabled
the armies of our Allies in their turn to launch an offensive against
the Germans and thus link up their offensive operations in the
West with the offensive operations of the Red Army in the East.”
That is how J. V. Stalin acted.

That is how true allies in 2 common struggle act.

% * *

These are the facts.

Of course, the falsifiers of history and slanderers have no respect
for facts—that is why they are dubbed falsifiers and slanderers. They
prefer slander and calumny. But there is no reason to doubt that in
the end these gentry will have to acknowledge a universally recognized
truth—namely, that slander and calumny perish, but the facts live on.
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